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TO THE HONORABLE, THE JUDGES OF THE  

UNITED STATES ARMY COURT OF CRIMINAL APPEALS 
 

COMES NOW the United States, and files this response pursuant to this 

court’s order, dated 26 October 2020, and in accordance with Rule 19(f)(1) of this 

Court’s Internal Rules of Practice and Procedure.  The government prays this 

honorable court deny the petition. 

Statement of the Case and Facts 
 

On 16 October 2017, a military judge sitting as a general court-martial 

convicted petitioner, pursuant to his pleas, of desertion with intent to shirk 
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hazardous duty and misbehavior before the enemy in violation of Articles 85 and 

99, Uniform Code of Military Justice (UCMJ), 10 U.S.C. §§ 885, 899 (2012).  

United States v. Bergdahl, 80 M.J. 230, 232–33 (C.A.A.F. 2020).  That same day, 

the military judge applied for a position as an immigration judge with the 

Executive Office for Immigration Review (EOIR).1  (Pet’r App’x C).  16 October 

2017—the day the military judge submitted his application—was the closing date 

for applications to be submitted through USAJOBS.  (Gov’t App. Ex. A).  The 

EOIR announced the nineteen open positions for immigration judge on 25 

September 2017.  (Gov’t App. Ex. A).  

In his application, the military judge included his 24 February 2017 ruling 

on petitioner’s first motion alleging apparent unlawful command influence 

(UCI)—relating to President Donald Trump’s campaign comments2—as a writing 

sample.  (Pet’r App’x C).  Petitioner subsequently filed a second motion alleging 

apparent UCI on 17 October 2017 based on a statement made by President Trump 

after petitioner’s guilty plea the day prior.3  Bergdahl, 79 M.J. 512, 519 (Army Ct. 

                                           
1 There is no indication in the materials provided by petitioner whether the military 
judge submitted the application before or after petitioner’s guilty plea. 
2 While he was a candidate for President, President Trump expressed his belief that 
petitioner “was a deserter and a traitor who should be severely punished.”  
Bergdahl, 80 M.J. at 244. 
3 On 16 October 2017, after petitioner pleaded guilty, President Trump commented 
in response to a reporter’s question during a press conference in the Rose Garden, 
“Well, I can’t comment on Bowe Bergdahl because he’s—as you know, they’re—I 
guess he’s doing something today, as we know.  And he’s also—they’re setting up 
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Crim. App. 2019), aff’d 80 M.J. 230.  In his ruling on that motion, the military 

judge concluded the defense met its burden to present some evidence that UCI 

occurred, but found that the “government met its burden to prove beyond a 

reasonable doubt that the UCI would not be an intolerable strain on the public’s 

perception of the military justice system.”  Id. at 520.  Despite finding there was no 

apparent UCI, “[t]he military judge stated that he would consider the President’s 

comments as mitigation evidence on sentencing.”  Id.  

The military judge sentenced petitioner on 3 November 2017 to a 

dishonorable discharge, reduction to the grade of E-1, and forfeiture of $1,000 per 

month for ten months.  Bergdahl, 79 M.J. at 520; Bergdahl, 80 M.J. at 233; 

(Appendix).  The military judge subsequently retired from the Army in 2018.  

(Pet’r App’x C).  On 28 September 2018, the EOIR published a press release 

stating that the Attorney General appointed the military judge as an immigration 

judge with the EOIR.  (Pet’r App’x C). 

On direct appeal before this court and the Court of Appeals for the Armed 

Forces (CAAF), petitioner claimed that statements about him by the late Senator 

John McCain4 and President Trump amounted to apparent UCI and requested this 

                                           
sentencing, so I’m not going to comment on him.  But I think people have heard 
my comments in the past.”  Bergdahl, 80 M.J. at 238. 
4 Senator McCain, while chairman of the Senate Armed Services Committee, told a 
reporter while petitioner’s case was pending a referral decision, “If it comes out 
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court and the CAAF dismiss his conviction with prejudice.  See generally 

Bergdahl, 79 M.J. 512; Bergdahl, 80 M.J. 230.  On 16 July 2019, this court 

rejected petitioner’s claims and affirmed petitioner’s conviction and sentence.  

Bergdahl, 79 M.J. at 520–27.  On 27 August 2020, the CAAF affirmed this court’s 

judgment, finding no apparent UCI.  Bergdahl, 80 M.J. at 244.   

On the same day the CAAF affirmed this court’s opinion, petitioner sent a 

Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) request to the EOIR seeking the military 

judge’s employment application.  (Pet’r App’x C).  Petitioner filed a petition for 

reconsideration, on other grounds, on 7 September 2020.  (Appendix).  Petitioner 

received a response to his FOIA request on 15 September 2020.  (Pet’r App’x C).  

These materials included the military judge’s application and affiliated documents.  

(Pet’r App’x C).  At the CAAF, petitioner requested to supplement the record with 

the military judge’s application materials and that the materials be considered in 

conjunction with the petition for reconsideration.  (Pet’r App’x C).  The CAAF 

denied the petition for reconsideration and motion to supplement the record on 14 

October 2020.  United States v. Bergdahl, No. 19-0406/AR, 2020 CAAF LEXIS 

569 (C.A.A.F. 2020).  Petitioner filed a petition for a writ of coram nobis with this 

court on 23 October 2020. 

                                           
that [petitioner] has no punishment, we’re going to have a hearing in the Senate 
Armed Services Committee.”  Bergdahl, 80 M.J. at 236. 
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Reasons Why Writ Should Not Issue 

The All Writs Act, 28 U.S.C. §1651 (2012), authorizes this court to issue 

writs in aid of its subject-matter jurisdiction.  Loving v. United States, 62 M.J. 235, 

246 (C.A.A.F. 2005).  A writ of coram nobis is “‘an extraordinary remedy’” which 

“‘should not be granted in the ordinary case.’”  United States v. Denedo, 556 U.S. 

904, 917 (2009) (quoting Nken v. Holder, 556 U.S. 418, 437 (2009) (Kennedy, J., 

concurring) (Denedo II)).  It may be used to address “fundamental” errors which 

must be corrected in order “‘to achieve justice.’”  Denedo II, 556 U.S. at 911 

(quoting United States v. Morgan, 346 U.S. 502, 511 (1954)).  “Because coram 

nobis is but an extraordinary tool to correct a legal or factual error, an application 

for the writ is properly viewed as a belated extension of the original proceeding 

during which the error allegedly transpired.”  Denedo II, 556 U.S. at 912–13.  This 

court’s jurisdiction to entertain this writ “derives from the earlier jurisdiction it 

exercised . . . on direct review.”  Id. at 914. 

Before considering the merits of the petition, this court must be satisfied that 

the petition meets the stringent “threshold criteria” for consideration.  Denedo v. 

United States, 66 M.J. 114, 126 (C.A.A.F. 2008) (Denedo I), aff’d 556 U.S. 904.  

Coram nobis relief requires the petitioner to show:   

(1)  the alleged error is of the most fundamental character; 
(2) no remedy other than coram nobis is available to 
rectify the consequences of the error; (3) valid reasons 
exist for not seeking relief earlier; (4) the new information 
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presented in the petition could not have been discovered 
through the exercise of reasonable diligence prior to the 
original judgment; (5) the writ does not seek to reevaluate 
previously considered evidence or legal issues; and (6) the 
sentence has been served, but the consequences of the 
erroneous conviction persist. 

 
Id.  “Because these requirements are conjunctive, the failure to meet any one of 

them is fatal.”  Matus-Leva v. United States, 287 F.3d 758, 760 (9th Cir. 2002). 

If a petition satisfies the Denedo threshold criteria, a petitioner still must 

demonstrate a “clear and indisputable right to the requested relief” in order to 

prevail on the merits.  Denedo I, 66 M.J. at 126 (citing Cheney v. United States 

Dist. Court, 542 U.S. 367, 381 (2004)).  In considering petitioner’s writ, this court 

must be mindful that “judgment finality is not to be lightly cast aside;” and must be 

cautious and grant extraordinary writ relief only in “extreme cases.”  Denedo II, 

556 U.S. at 916.   

Here, although this court has jurisdiction to entertain the petition for coram 

nobis, petitioner fails to establish the necessary threshold criteria required for this 

court to consider the petition and grant relief to petitioner.  Even if the petition 

satisfies the threshold criteria, petitioner is not entitled to relief on the merits 

because he fails to demonstrate that his entitlement to relief is clear and 

indisputable.  Accordingly, this court should not issue the requested writ. 
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A. The petition does not meet the Denedo threshold criteria. 

The instant petition is not eligible for review by this court because petitioner 

could have been discovered the information presented in the petition through the 

exercise of reasonable diligence prior to the original judgment.  The fact that the 

military judge was appointed as an immigration judge with the EOIR was publicly 

announced on 28 September 2018 (Pet’r App’x C)—nearly ten months prior to this 

court’s 2019 opinion affirming his conviction and sentence.5  Petitioner offers no 

explanation for waiting to request the military judge’s application materials until 

the day the CAAF affirmed this court’s judgment, nearly two years after the 

military judge’s appointment with the EOIR was announced.  Had petitioner 

exercised reasonable diligence prior to this court’s and/or the CAAF’s opinions, he 

could have discovered and raised the information concerning the military judge 

during the ordinary course of appeal.  See Roy v. United States, 2014 CCA LEXIS 

                                           
5 Should petitioner claim that the government was obligated to provide him with 
the information concerning the military judge’s prospective or actual employment 
with the EOIR, no case law supports such a notion.  The government is unaware of 
an unending duty to independently investigate every facet of a military judge’s life.  
In fact, on one occasion, the CAAF found that the government’s quest for 
disqualifying information about a military judge amounted to apparent UCI.  
United States v. Salyer, 72 M.J. 415, 426 (C.A.A.F. 2013) (noting that “a good-
faith basis of inquiry under R.C.M. 902 does not create a correlating good-faith 
basis to access a military judge’s official personnel file without his consent in 
search of personal matters with which to question and challenge the 
military judge.”).  “The normative method for addressing potential issues of 
disqualification is voir dire.”  Id.  
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364, at *9 (A.F. Ct. Crim. App. 17 June 2014) (finding that a petitioner seeking a 

writ of coram nobis could have discovered and presented, prior to the completion 

of direct appellate review, his challenge to a military appellate judge’s appointment 

to the Air Force Court of Criminal Appeals (AFCCA) under the Appointments 

Clause because the appointment occurred three weeks prior to the AFCCA’s 

issuance of its opinion on direct review). 

Petitioner’s failure to exercise reasonable diligence also resulted in his 

inability to bring this matter to this court’s attention within the two-year time limit 

for filing a petition for new trial under Article 73, UCMJ.  As this court has 

previously noted, “an extraordinary writ cannot be used as an end-run around the 

two-year time limit for considering a petition for new trial under Article 73, 

UCMJ.”  Murray v. United States, 2018 CCA LEXIS 47, at *7 (Army Ct. Crim. 

App. 31 Jan. 2018) (sum. disp.) (finding petitioner not entitled to coram nobis 

relief in the form of vacating his court-martial findings and sentence based on 

claim of prosecutorial misconduct because of his failure to seek relief earlier) 

(citing Roberts v. United States, 77 M.J. 615 (Army Ct. Crim. App. 2018).   

Additionally, petitioner, through the writ, seeks this court to re-evaluate a 

previously litigated legal issue—apparent UCI resulting from Senator McCain’s 

and President Trump’s comments concerning petitioner.  Consequently, this court 

should dismiss the petition.   
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B.  Petitioner fails to establish a clear and indisputable right to relief. 
 

Even if this court determines that the petition satisfies the Denedo threshold 

criteria, petitioner fails to establish a clear and indisputable right to relief.  The 

military judge was not required to recuse himself from petitioner’s case simply 

because he sought employment with the EOIR.  Furthermore, the military judge’s 

pending application with the EOIR between the day of petitioner’s guilty plea and 

his sentencing fails to impact the CAAF’s conclusion that there was no apparent 

UCI in petitioner’s case.  Accordingly, petitioner is not entitled to relief. 

1. The military judge was not disqualified because of his pending 
employment application with the EOIR. 
 
“An accused has a constitutional right to an impartial judge.”  United States 

v. Martinez, 70 M.J. 154, 157 (C.A.A.F. 2011) (citing United States v. Jones, 55 

M.J. 317, 320 (C.A.A.F. 2001)).  To ensure that an accused receives an impartial 

judge, Rule for Courts-Martial (R.C.M.) 902 establishes the grounds for when a 

military judge must be disqualified from participating in a court-martial.  Rule for 

Courts-Martial 902(a) generally provides that “a military judge shall disqualify 

himself or herself in any proceeding in which that military judge’s impartiality 

might reasonably be questioned.”  Additionally, R.C.M. 902(b) establishes several 

specific circumstances under which a military judge must recuse himself, including 

when the military judge has “an interest, financial or otherwise, that could be 

substantially affected by the outcome of the proceeding.”  R.C.M. 902(b)(5)(B).  
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A claim questioning the impartiality of a military judge raised for the first 

time after trial is examined under the plain error standard of review.6  Martinez, 70 

M.J. at 157.  “‘[T]he test is whether, taken as a whole in the context of this trial, a 

court-martial’s legality, fairness, and impartiality were put into doubt’ by the 

military judge’s actions.”  Id. (quoting United States v. Burton, 52 M.J. 223, 226 

(C.A.A.F. 2000)).  “The appearance of impartiality is reviewed [] objectively and 

is tested under the standard set forth in United States v. Kincheloe, [14 M.J. 40, 50 

(C.M.A. 1982)], i.e., ‘[a]ny conduct that would lead a reasonable man knowing all 

the circumstances to the conclusion that the judge’s impartiality might reasonably 

be questioned is a basis for the judge’s disqualification.’”  Id. at 158.   

 One instance when a military judge’s impartiality might reasonably be 

questioned is where one party to the proceeding before the military judge is a 

prospective employer.  See In re Al-Nashiri, 921 F.3d 224, 235 (D.C. Cir. 2019) 

(“Judges may not adjudicate cases involving their prospective employers.”).  This 

is not such a case, and petitioner’s attempt to liken this case to Al-Nashiri is 

unavailing.   

In Al-Nashiri, the United States Court of Appeals for the District of 

Columbia Circuit (D.C. Circuit) found a military commission judge’s application 

                                           
6 “Plain error occurs when (1) there is error, (2) the error is plain or obvious, and 
(3) the error results in material prejudice.”  Id. (citing United States v. Maynard, 66 
M.J. 242, 244 (C.A.A.F. 2008)). 
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for a position as an immigration judge with “the Department of Justice’s Executive 

Office of Immigration Review” required his disqualification because attorneys in 

the employ of the Department of Justice appeared and litigated the government’s 

position before him.  Id. at 227, 237.  The D.C. Circuit reasoned that the “average, 

informed observer would consider” the judge, Judge Spath, to have “presided over 

a case in which his potential employer appeared” because the “Attorney General 

himself is directly involved in selecting and supervising immigration judges,” and 

“was a participant in Al-Nashiri’s case from start to finish:  he has consulted on 

commission trial procedures, he has loaned out one of his lawyers [to prosecute Al-

Nashiri], and he will play a role in defending any conviction on appeal . . . .”  Id. at 

235–36. 

 In United States v. Synder, the AFCCA rejected an appellant’s attempt to 

extend the D.C. Circuit’s opinion in Al-Nashiri to Judge Spath’s service as a 

military judge in a court-martial.  2020 CCA LEXIS 117 (A.F. Ct. Crim. App. 15 

Apr. 2020) (unpub. op.), pet. filed, No. 20-0336/AF (C.A.A.F. 29 Jul. 2020).  The 

Synder appellant argued that Judge Spath should have recused himself in the 

appellant’s court-martial because his “‘flaunting’ of his experience as a judge 

advocate and military judge in his job application [as an immigration job with the 

EOIR] was disqualifying.”  Id. at *59.  In support of this argument that Judge 

Spath was disqualified, the Synder appellant claimed that “Judge Spath excluded 

https://afcca.law.af.mil/afcca_opinions/cp/snyder_-_39470.u.pdf
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two attachments that referenced sex offender registration consequences so as not to 

jeopardize his prospective DoJ employment; and . . . denied [a] motion for a 

continuance because he was clearing his docket in preparation to begin his 

immigration judge duties.”  Id.  The AFCCA found that Judge Spath was not 

disqualified based on his job application with the EOIR because: 

The DoJ was not a party to [the] [a]ppellant’s trial and did 
not have an identifiable interest in its result, nor was the 
Attorney General or anyone in the DoJ a participant.  
Neither the DoJ nor the Attorney General had a close 
association with military courts-martial generally, or in 
[the] [a]ppellant’s case specifically.   
 

Id. at *60.  The AFCCA further rejected the Synder appellant’s attempt to tie Judge 

Spath’s employment application to his exclusion of two attachments that 

referenced sex offender registration—specifically, “SORNA, which the DoJ has a 

role in overseeing”—because the connection between the two was “tenuous.”  Id. 

at *61.  The AFCCA found that there was “no reason to believe a DoJ hiring 

official would hear about the ruling and be pleased or displeased or that Judge 

Spath believed a DoJ hiring official would be aware of his ruling or that it would 

be any matter of consequence.”  Id.  The AFCCA also rejected the notion that 

Judge Spath denied the continuance “for personal reasons or that an objective 

observer knowing the facts would conclude that he did.  No evidence or reasonable 

inference suggests that Judge Spath was under pressure to move [the Synder 

a]ppellant’s case hurriedly so that he could retire.”  Id. at 62. 
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  For the same reasons the AFCCA concluded Judge Spath was not 

disqualified from the Synder appellant’s court-martial, so too should this court with 

respect to the military judge in petitioner’s court-martial.  “There is a strong 

presumption that a judge is impartial, and a party seeking to demonstrate bias must 

overcome a high hurdle, particularly when the alleged bias involves actions taken 

in conjunction with judicial proceedings.”  United States v. Quintanilla, 56 M.J. 

37, 44 (C.A.A.F. 2001) (citation omitted).  Petitioner has not overcome this 

presumption because an objective observer knowing all of the facts and 

circumstances would not question the military judge’s impartiality based on his 

application as an immigration judge with the EOIR while acting on petitioner’s 17 

October 2017 UCI motion, and there is no evidence that the military judge had an 

interest that could be substantially affected by the outcome of the proceeding.  

R.C.M. 902(a), 902(b)(5)(B). 

 Like in Synder, the military judge’s prospective employer was not a party to 

petitioner’s case.  Petitioner fundamentally misunderstands the nature of the 

military judge’s prospective employer, the EOIR.  The EOIR is a sub-organization 

of the Department of Justice (DOJ) and is responsible for adjudicating immigration 

cases, not military justice cases.  Executive Office for Immigration Review, About 

the Office, https://www.justice.gov/eoir/about-office (last visited 31 Oct. 2020).  

Unlike Article III judges, immigration judges in the EOIR are not appointed or 

https://www.justice.gov/eoir/about-office
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supervised by the President.  Rather, they are appointed by the Attorney General 

and directly supervised by the Director of EOIR.  Immigration Judges, 8 C.F.R. 

§ 1003.10(a) (2014); see also 8 U.S.C. § 1101(b)(4) (noting that immigration 

judges are appointed by the Attorney General); Executive Office for Immigration 

Review, Office of the Director, https://www.justice.gov/eoir/office-of-the-director 

(last visited 31 Oct. 2020)  (“EOIR is headed by a Director who is responsible for 

the supervision of . . . all agency personnel in the execution of their duties in 

accordance with 8 CFR Part 1003.”).7  Nor is the President involved in any way in 

the hiring of immigration judges.8  The EOIR, DOJ, and Attorney General were 

not a party to petitioner’s court-martial, nor did were they in any way implicated in 

                                           
7 Although they are supervised by the Director, EOIR, immigration judges are 
required to exercise their own independent judgment in the execution of their 
duties.  8 C.F.R. § 1003.10(b).  (“In deciding the individual cases before them, and 
subject to the applicable governing standards, immigration judges shall exercise 
their independent judgment and discretion and may take any action consistent with 
their authorities under the Act and regulations that is appropriate and necessary for 
the disposition of such cases.”).  Decisions by immigration judges “are subject to 
review by the Board of Immigration Appeals. . . .”  8 C.F.R. § 1003.10(c). 
8 Although immigrations judges are ultimately appointed by the Attorney General, 
they go through an extensive hiring process consisting of two interviews before 
different interview committees—an initial panel composed of three EOIR 
supervisory immigration judges and the Finalist Panel composed of “the Assistant 
Attorney General of Administration (AAG/A) (or a career-SES appointed 
employee designated by him), an employee designated by the Deputy Attorney 
General, and the EOIR director (or other senior EOIR official designated by the 
Director)”—neither of which include the Attorney General or President.  
Memorandum from James R. McHenry III, Director [EOIR] to the Attorney 
General, Subject:  Immigration Judge and Appellate Immigration Judge Hiring 
Process, available at https://www.justice.gov/eoir/page/file/1280781/download.  

https://www.justice.gov/eoir/office-of-the-director
https://www.justice.gov/eoir/page/file/1280781/download
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petitioner’s UCI motions.  Furthermore, petitioner’s allegation of apparent UCI 

bore absolutely no nexus to the work performed by the EOIR. 

Given that the nexus between the President and the EOIR is non-existent, 

this court should reject petitioner’s simplistic characterization of the military judge 

as seeking employment with “President Trump’s Department of Justice.” (Pet’r Br. 

6).  The D.C. Circuit in Al-Nashiri described the immigration judge position as 

being with “the Department of Justice’s Executive Office of Immigration Review.”  

Al-Nashiri, 921 F.3d at 227 (emphasis added).  The President does not run the 

DOJ; rather, the organization is “head[ed]” by the Attorney General, who is 

nominated by the President and confirmed with the advice and consent of the 

Senate.  28 U.S.C. § 503 (1966).  The EOIR, situated within the DOJ, is managed 

by an internal director who is neither the President nor the Attorney General.  See 

supra p. 13–14.   

Given these facts concerning the EOIR, this court should find that the 

military judge was not disqualified from presiding over petitioner’s case because 

the EOIR was not a party to petitioner’s court-martial and had no connection to the 

issues raised in his court-martial.  It is simply unreasonable to characterize 

President Trump as petitioner’s prospective employer, or to expand the EOIR as a 

party to include President Trump as petitioner wishes.  An objective, reasonable 

person would not believe that the military judge’s impartiality was in jeopardy 
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based on these circumstances.9  Accordingly, petitioner fails to establish any error, 

let alone plain and obvious error, with respect to the military judge’s impartiality 

or qualification to preside over his court-martial.10   

Even if this court finds that the military judge was disqualified under R.C.M. 

902, petitioner is not entitled to relief because the error did not materially prejudice 

him under Article 59(a), UCMJ.  See Martinez, 70 M.J. at 159-60 (testing the 

disqualification of a military judge raised on appeal for prejudice).  Additionally, 

petitioner fails to demonstrate that dismissal with prejudice—let alone dismissal 

                                           
9 Petitioner’s further attempt to equate the military judge to Judge Spath because of 
certain rulings he made is unconvincing.  (Pet’r Br. 7 n.1).  The military judge 
issued his rulings on Defense Appellate Exhibits (DAE) 34, 65, and 66 before the 
EOIR published the job announcement on 25 September 2017.  (Gov’t App. Ex. A; 
Appendix).  The military judge ruled on DAE 94—the defense motion to dismiss 
for unreasonable multiplication of charges—on the day of petitioner’s guilty plea.  
(Appendix).  The military judge found that the charges were not unreasonably 
multiplied for finding, but were for sentencing and that petitioner’s sentence “will 
be limited to the maximum punishment for” the Article 99, UCMJ, offense.  
(Appendix).  On direct review, this court found no error with respect to that ruling.  
Bergdahl, 79 M.J. at 517 n.2.  Although the military judge issued his rulings on 
DAE 97—motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction—and 98—motion to 
dismiss Charge I—on 2 October 2017 (Appendix), petitioner did not challenge 
these rulings on appeal.  Unlike the rulings by Judge Spath in Al-Nashiri which 
may have caused a “reasonable observer might wonder whether the judge had done 
something worth concealing,” Al-Nashiri, 921 F.3d at 237, the rulings in no way 
suggest that the military judge was impartial.   
10 The government believes that further fact-finding as to the timeline of the 
military judge’s employment process with the EOIR is neither relevant nor 
necessary given that the EOIR was not a party to the proceeding or implicated in 
the UCI motions concerning Senator McCain or President Trump.  To the extent 
this court believes that such details are necessary to the disposition of the petition, 
this court may order the government to obtain an affidavit from the military judge. 
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without prejudice—is warranted under the three-part test in Liljeberg v. Health 

Servs. Acquisition Corp:  “[1] the risk of injustice to the parties in the particular 

case, [2] the risk that the denial of relief will produce injustice in other cases, and 

[3] the risk of undermining the public’s confidence in the judicial process.”  486 

U.S. 847, 862 (1988).  The analysis for the third Liljeberg factor is “similar to the 

standard applied in the initial R.C.M. 902(a) analysis.”  Martinez, 70 M.J. at 159–

60.  This analysis, however, is broader because this court does not limit its review 

“to facts relevant to recusal, but rather review the entire proceedings, to include 

any post-trial proceeding, the convening authority action, the action of the Court of 

Criminal Appeals, or other facts relevant to the Liljeberg test.”  Id.   

A remedy is not required to preserve confidence in the military justice 

system in this case should this court find that the military judge was disqualified.  

Even if the military judge applied for the position with the EOIR immediately 

before petitioner’s guilty plea on 16 October 2017, any risk the public would 

perceive injustice as to the finding of petitioner’s guilt was non-existent, or at a 

minimum, considerably diminished, because petitioner pleaded guilty and the 

military judge acquitted him of the only contested portion of the case.11  There is 

                                           
11 Petitioner pleaded guilty to a single day of desertion instead of the entire charged 
period approximating five years.  (Appendix).  The government attempted to prove 
the full five-year period of desertion, but the military judge acquitted petitioner as 
to that period.  (Appendix). 
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no “risk of injustice to the parties” with respect to the sentencing phase of 

petitioner’s court-martial because:  1) the military judge gave petitioner relief in 

his post-guilty plea UCI ruling by considering the President’s comments as 

evidence in mitigation; 2) the military judge rejected the far more severe 

punishment argued for by the trial counsel12 and by the President; and 3) petitioner 

received the sentence he requested.  (Appendix).  These same facts also support a 

conclusion that petitioner did not suffer material prejudice under Article 59(a), 

UCMJ.  As the CAAF observed: 

[I]t is essential to note that the conduct [petitioner] 
engaged in, and the charges to which he pleaded guilty, 
were very serious offenses for which either a life sentence 
or the death penalty were authorized punishments. See 
Articles 85(c), 99(9), UCMJ. Moreover, these offenses 
were anathema to the military and its mission. And 
importantly, as a direct and foreseeable consequence of 
[petitioner’s] misconduct, other members of the armed 
forces were injured—some severely—while seeking to 
find and rescue [petitioner]. . . .  In light of these facts, it 
is wholly unrealistic to believe there was any scenario 
where: (1) upon his return to the United States, [petitioner] 
would not have been held accountable at a general court-
martial for his offenses (to which he voluntarily pleaded 
guilty); and (2) [petitioner] would not have received the 
dishonorable discharge he himself subsequently 
requested. 
 

Bergdahl, 80 M.J. at 233. 

                                           
12 The trial counsel requested the military judge sentence petitioner to fourteen 
years of confinement and a punitive discharge, which was considerably less than 
the maximum punishment.  (Appendix). 
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Given the unique circumstances of this case, it is also not necessary to 

reverse petitioner’s conviction to preserve justice in other cases.  Id. at 245 

(Stucky, C.J., concurring in part and dissenting in part) (“This case is unique in 

modern American military jurisprudence.”).  Finally, reversal of petitioner’s 

conviction is not required to avoid undermining the public’s confidence in the 

judicial process based on the sole fact of the military judge’s post-retirement 

employment with EOIR given:  1) petitioner pleaded guilty; 2) the military judge 

acquitted him of the only contested portion of the case; and 3) the military judge 

sentenced petitioner in accordance with his request.  Accordingly, reversal or 

reversal with prejudice is not warranted should this court find that the military 

judge was disqualified. 

2. There was no apparent UCI in this case. 

During his court-martial and on appeal, petitioner alleged that statements 

made by Senator McCain and President Trump amounted to apparent UCI that 

warranted his case be dismissed with prejudice.  See generally Bergdahl, 79 M.J. 

512; Bergdahl, 80 M.J. 230.  To overcome a prima facie case of apparent 

command influence, the government must prove “beyond a reasonable doubt that 

the [UCI] did not place an intolerable strain upon the public perception’s of the 

military justice system and that an objective, disinterested observer, fully informed 

of all the facts and circumstances, would [not] harbor a significant doubt about 
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the fairness of the proceeding.”  Bergdahl, 80 M.J. at 234 (internal quotations 

and citations omitted) (alteration and emphasis in original).  Here, the fact that the 

military judge submitted a job application with the EOIR on the day of petitioner’s 

guilty plea does nothing to impact the CAAF’s conclusion that “a finding of 

apparent [UCI] is not warranted [in light of Senator McCain and President 

Trump’s comments] because there was no intolerable strain on the military justice 

system.”  Id. at 239.  

The CAAF primarily relied on two facts when it concluded that “no claim of 

unfairness regarding the guilty plea phase of the court-martial proceedings can 

prevail with respect to the findings portion.”  Id. at 242.  First, the CAAF 

emphasized that petitioner pleaded guilty: 

[I]t cannot be emphasized strongly enough that 
[petitioner] chose to plead guilty to the offenses of 
desertion with intent to shirk hazardous duty and 
misbehavior before the enemy. In doing so, he explicitly 
agreed in open court that he was voluntarily pleading 
guilty because he was in fact guilty and not for any other 
reason. 
 

Id.  Second, the CAAF noted that petitioner “raised to the military judge the issue 

of apparent [UCI], the military judge offered [petitioner] the opportunity 

to withdraw his plea of guilty, and [petitioner] declined to do so.”  Id.  

 In finding that there was no apparent UCI with respect to sentencing, the 

CAAF found that “it would be difficult to discern how an impartial observer would 
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conclude that” petitioner’s sentence was unfair given the serious offenses to which 

petitioner pleaded guilty, the evidence in aggravation, and petitioner’s own request 

for a dishonorable discharge, and the military judge’s subsequent imposition of 

that specific punishment on him.  Id.  The CAAF also noted that: 

that despite the sensational nature of this case, despite the 
public calls for the lengthy imprisonment of [petitioner], 
despite Senator McCain’s threat that he would hold a 
hearing if [petitioner] did not receive a sentence to his 
liking, and despite the Commander in Chief’s ratification 
of his statements that [petitioner] was a traitor who should 
be severely punished, the military judge imposed on 
[petitioner] no prison time whatsoever.  Thus, an 
objective, disinterested observer would conclude that 
rather than being swayed by outside forces, the military 
judge was notably impervious to them.  
 

Id. at 35-36 (emphasis in original). 

Plainly stated, petitioner’s assertion that the military’s application to be an 

immigration judge with the EOIR on the day of his guilty plea impugns the 

CAAF’s finding of no apparent UCI with respect to his guilty plea or sentence is 

nonsensical.13  That the military judge submitted the job application or did not 

                                           
13 Given that petitioner now challenges the CAAF’s finding that there was no 
apparent UCI based on actions by the military judge being “the straw that [broke] 
the camel’s back,” (Pet’r Br. 11), the government solely focuses on alleged 
apparent UCI at the phases of the proceeding involving the military judge: the 
guilty plea and sentencing phases.  Petitioner’s claim does nothing to disrupt the 
CAAF’s finding of no apparent UCI with respect to the investigative, preferral, 
referral, convening authority action or appellate review of the case.  Bergdahl, 80 
M.J. at 239–44. 
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disclose that he did has no bearing on whether there was apparent UCI in this case.  

In the context of the allegations of apparent UCI by Senator McCain and President 

Trump, none of the military judge’s actions contribute to a finding of substantial 

doubt about the fairness of petitioner’s trial.  Petitioner’s suggestion that the 

CAAF’s characterization of the military judge, an active duty Army officer, as 

“impervious” was in error because of his application for employment with a sub-

agency (EOIR) of an executive agency (DOJ) that is overseen by an internal 

director (Director, EOIR) is untenable.  The military judge did not apply to work 

for President Trump.  A conclusion that the military judge’s job application with 

the EOIR14 subjected him to “outside influence” by President is even less 

convincing than the failed bare assertion that there was apparent unlawful 

influence on the military judge by virtue of his position as an Army officer and the 

                                           
14 Petitioner places great significance on the fact that the military judge used his 24 
February 2017 UCI ruling as the writing sample in his application, but disregards 
the fact that the only other time the military judge mentioned petitioner’s case was 
in his explanation of “[e]xperience handling complex legal issues.”  (Pet’r App’x 
C).  In that section of the application, the military detailed numerous other courts-
martial he presided over; the military judge last referred to petitioner’s case as a 
high-profile case with “many complex issues” that he was currently presiding over, 
and therefore could not “give details about the issues or parties involved.”  (Pet’r 
App’x C).  Immediately prior to mentioning petitioner’s case, the military judge 
emphasized that he has “always been able to properly balance the rights of the 
accused, the victim and the interest of society to ensure that justice is done in every 
case.”  (Pet’r App’x C).  Petitioner’s case is not mentioned at all on the military 
judge’s resume.  (Pet’r App’x C). 
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President as Commander-in-Chief.15  See Bergdahl, 79 M.J. at 518; Bergdahl, 80 

M.J. at 235-36; (Appendix). 

                                           
15 Petitioner’s insinuation that the military judge misled petitioner or was not 
candid about his post-retirement plans is taken out of context and completely 
speculative.  (Pet’r Br. 11).  In the military judge’s ruling on petitioner’s 17 
October 2017 UCI motion, the military judge stated when discussing petitioner’s 
election to be tried by military judge alone:  
 

Under the UCMJ, that means that I am the decider of law, 
finder of fact and sentencing authority in this case.  I have 
been on active duty for over 29 years.  My mandatory 
retirement date is 1 November 2018.  I have been a 
military judge for nearly 13 years. I was promoted to 
Colonel in April 2007.  I have no hope of or ambition for 
promotion beyond my current rank.  My only motivation 
as a military judge is and always has been to be fair and 
impartial and to do justice in every case.  I am completely 
unaffected by any opinions President Trump may have 
about SGT Bergdahl. 
 

Bergdahl, 79 M.J. at 520 n.9.  In the same ruling, when discussing his finding that 
the President’s comment did not place an intolerable strain on the public 
perception’s of the military justice system, the military judge noted, “The evidence 
establishes beyond a reasonable doubt that I am uninfluenced by the President's 
comments and more importantly, that I hold no fear of any repercussions from 
anyone if they do not agree with my sentence in this case.”  Id. at 523 n.17.  These 
statements occurred in the context of petitioner’s allegation that the military judge 
was under pressure from the President—as Commander-in-Chief—to make certain 
decisions against petitioner and to please the President because of potential 
consequences to his military career.  (Appendix).  The military judge’s subjective 
assessment that he is unaffected by President Trump’s opinions is a further 
testament to the independence exercised by the military judge even in the context 
of his pending application of the EOIR, an application which informs his 
prospective employer that the military judge was so independent that he publicly 
castigated the sitting President of the United States.  (Pet’r App’x C).  
Furthermore, the military judge’s statement during voir dire on 23 October 2017 
that he “does not expect to go anywhere but back home as soon as the Army is 
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If the military judge’s application with the EOIR had any nexus to the 

petitioner’s UCI allegations against President Trump, one would expect that the 

military judge would condone the President’s comments.  He did not.  In fact, in 

the very writing sample the military submitted with his application—his 24 

February 2017 UCI ruling concerning the President’s campaign comments—he 

publicly condemned the President’s words and actions as inappropriate.  Far from 

approving the President’s comments, the ruling highlighted the military judge’s 

belief that the President’s campaign comments were “troubling[,]” “disturbing[,]” 

and “disappointing.”  (Pet’r App’x C).  The military judge “recognize[d] the 

problematic potential created by” the President’s “conclusive and disparaging 

comments” and indicated that he would “take special care to ensure the comments 

[did] . . . not invade the trial.”  (Pet’r App’x C).  The military judge put words into 

action when acting on petitioner’s 17 October 2017 UCI motion—after the he 

submitted his application—when he gave a form of relief based on the President’s 

16 October 2017 Rose Garden comment despite finding no apparent UCI.  

(Appendix).  The military judge offered petitioner the opportunity to withdraw his 

guilty plea and admitted all of the President’s comments as mitigation during 

sentencing.  Bergdahl, 79 M.J. at 520. 

                                           
done with” him, (Pet’r App’x F), is not incongruent with the act of merely 
submitting an employment application when there has been no offer or acceptance 
of employment.   
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One would expect that the military judge would find the petitioner guilty of 

the contested portions of the charges if he was not impervious to the President’s 

comments or, as petitioner alludes to, somehow took action favorable to President 

Trump for purposes of currying favor with the EOIR.  He did not.  Petitioner was 

found guilty of desertion with the intent to shirk hazardous duty and misbehavior 

before the enemy because he pleaded guilty.  “In doing so, he explicitly agreed in 

open court that he was voluntarily pleading guilty because he was in fact guilty and 

not for any other reason.”  Bergdahl, 80 M.J. at 242 (emphasis in original).  On the 

same day the military judge submitted his application—and after having been 

informed of the President’s views by petitioner’s previous UCI motion concerning 

his campaign comments—the military judge acquitted petitioner of the sole portion 

of the charges that he contested.  (Appendix).  Based on petitioner’s own words 

during his plea colloquy, “no impartial observer would conclude that it was the 

comments made by the President of the United States and/or by” Senator McCain 

“that caused [petitioner] to pled guilty; rather it was the strength of the 

Government’s evidence that caused him to take that step.”  Id.  The military 

judge’s actions with respect to the guilty plea phase of petitioner’s court-martial 

dispel any perception that petitioner’s court-martial was unfair in light of the 

President’s comments simply because of the additional fact that the military judge 

applied for employment with the EOIR.   
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Further, one would also expect the military judge to harshly sentence 

petitioner in accordance with the President’s desires—or at least impose a sentence 

approximating that requested by the government—if he was not impervious to the 

President’s comments.  He did not.  Rather, the military judge, after a seven-hour 

deliberation, adjudged a sentence that included a dishonorable discharge and no 

confinement—precisely in accordance with petitioner’s request and completely in 

disaccord with the punishment suggested by the President.  (Appendix).  As the 

CAAF noted, petitioner: 

[P]leaded guilty to deserting his unit with intent to shirk 
hazardous duty and of engaging in misbehavior before the 
enemy; American servicemembers were injured searching 
for [petitioner] after he chose to desert his post in a combat 
zone; the United States government was required to 
exchange five members of the Taliban who had been held 
at the U.S. detention facility in Guantanamo Bay, Cuba, in 
order to secure [petitioner’s] release; and yet the military 
judge imposed as a sentence only a dishonorable 
discharge, a reduction in rank, and partial forfeitures of 
pay after [petitioner] specifically asked to receive a 
dishonorable discharge. 

 
Bergdahl, 80 M.J. at 244 (emphasis added).  The military judge’s sentence has 

nothing to do with the President’s comments or desires, or the military judge’s 

application with the EOIR, but was “based solely on the serious offenses to which 

[petitioner] pleaded guilty and on the facts established during the Government’s 

case in aggravation,” such that even petitioner “recognized he was deserving of 

punishment when he asked to have a dishonorable discharge imposed upon him.”  



27 
 

Id. at 243 (“‘But punishment is warranted for his actions, and the defense would 

request that you give Sergeant Bergdahl a dishonorable discharge . . . .’”) (quoting 

defense counsel).  Eleven months later, despite the military judge’s condemnation 

of the President’s comments and imposition of a sentence the President called a 

“complete and total disgrace,” id. at 238, the military judge began his employment 

with the EOIR.  (Pet’r App’x C). 

These circumstances reinforce the military judge’s commendable judicial 

independence and dispel the appearance of any association between his actions in 

petitioner’s case and his future employment prospects with the EOIR.  Based on 

these circumstances, this court should reject petitioner’s incredulous suggestion 

that an “objective, disinterested observer, fully informed of all the facts and 

circumstances,” including the military judge’s employment application, would 

“harbor a significant doubt about the fairness of the proceeding[,]” given the 

unique facts of this case.  Boyce, 76 M.J. at 249.  There was no apparent UCI in 

this case. 
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Conclusion 

 This court should deny the petition because petitioner fails to meet the 

threshold requirements for a writ of coram nobis and cannot demonstrate that his 

right to relief is clear and indisputable.   

WHEREFORE, the government respectfully requests this court deny the 

petition for a writ of coram nobis. 
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1 MJ: All right.

2 Accused and Defense Counsel, please rise.

3 [The accused and his defense counsel did as directed.]

4 MJ: Sergeant Robert Bowdrie Bergdahl, I now ask you: How do

5 you plead? Before receiving your plea, I advise you that any motion

6 to dismiss or grant other appropriate relief should be made at this

7 time.

8 Everyone can be seated, I believe, except Sergeant Bergdahl

9 and Major Gleich.

10 ADC: Yes, Your Honor.

11 [The other defense counsel did as directed.]

12 ADC: Your Honor, the accused, Sergeant Bergdahl, pleads as

13 follows:

14 To The Specification of Charge I: Guilty, except the words
15 and figures: "combat operations in Afghanistan";
16 Substituting therefor the words: "a convoy from
17 Observation Post Mest to Forward Operating Base

18 Sharana";

19 Further excepting the words and figures "; and
20 combat patrol duties in Paktika Province, Afghanistan,"
21 and "31 May 2014",

22 Substitilting therefor the words and figures

23 "30 June 2009".

24 To the excepted words and figures: Not Guilty.
25 To the substituted words and figures: Guilty.

26 To Charge I: Guilty.

27

28 To The Specification of Charge II: Guilty.

29 To Charge II: Guilty.
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1 [The court-martial closed at 1108, 16 October 2017.]

2 [The court-martial opened at 1300, 16 October 2017.]

3 MJ: The court is called to order. All parties who were present

4 when the court recessed [sic] are again present.

5 Accused and Defense Counsel, please rise.

6 [The accused and his defense counsel did as directed.]

7 MJ: Sergeant Robert B. Bergdahl, this court finds you:

8 Of The Specification of Charge I: Guilty, except the words
9 and figures, "combat operations in Afghanistan";

10 Substituting therefor the words, "a convoy from
11 Observation Post Mest to Forward Operating Base

12 Sharana";

13 Further excepting the words and figures, "and
14 combat patrol duties in Paktika Province, Afghanistan,"
15 and "31 May 2014";
16 Substituting therefor the word and figures

17 "30 June 2009".

18 Of the excepted words and figures: Not Guilty
19 Of the substituted words and figures: Guilty.

20 Of Charge I: Guilty.

21

22 Of The Specification of Charge II and Charge II: Guilty.

23 You may be seated.

24 [The accused and his defense counsel did as directed.]

25 MJ: Sergeant Bergdahl, we now enter the sentencing phase of the

26 trial where you have the right to present matters in extenuation and

27 mitigation; that is, matters about the offenses or yourself that you

28 want me to consider in deciding an appropriate sentence for you. In
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1 to recess until the 23rd when we will begin the sentencing case in

2 this trial.

3 Before we do that, we do need to take care of some

4 housekeeping matters. One has to do with the UMC motion, the other

5 has to do with the witness issues that we've discussed by e-mail but

6 apparently have been resolved. And then one has to do with sort of a

7 communications issue with respect to one witness that I wanted to

8 talk to you about.

9 First, with respect to the UMC motion: Defense's motion to

10 dismiss for unreasonable multiplication of charges is denied.

11 However, I do consider this to be an unreasonable multiplication of

12 charges for sentencing, and the accused's sentence will be limited to

13 the maximum punishment for the largest of the two offenses, which is

14 the Article 99 offense.

15 Any questions about that?

16 I'll give more detailed findings of fact and conclusions of

17 law on this UMC issue at a later date

18 ADC: No questions, Your Honor.

19 MJ: if I think it's appropriate.

20 So these witnesses -- am I correct in understanding that

21 there is no longer any dispute about the method or manner in which
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1 any witness is to appear before the Court in the sentencing portion

2 of the trial?

3 TC: That's correct, sir. My understanding is that, at this

4 point, we have agreed to remote testimony for, I believe, it's now

5 three witnesses. And we believe we've worked out a stipulation that

6 will negate the need for one of the witnesses, who was potentially

7 the subject of that request, to testify at all.

8 Then there's still some issues that we need to figure out

9 in terms of whether or not it's going to be VTC or telephonic. We

10 will endeavor to do VTC for as many of the witnesses as we can and

11 telephonic as an alternative to the degree that they're unable to

12 basically -- the civilians who have more difficulty getting to a

13 video-teleconference.

14 MJ: Sure.

15 TC: But other than that, I believe that, at this point, we have

16 worked out all of those issues.

17 MJ: Is that your understanding, Defense?

18 ADC: Yes, Your Honor.

19 MJ: Okay. Thank you.

20 What I will say -- I understand that there may be some

21 issue concerning one witness needing to testify -- who you want to
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1 have testify by VTC needing to testify by SIPR VTC and that that is

2 the only way that witness can appear by VTC. Unless that witness has

3 classified information that that witness needs to discuss, that

4 witness will not testify by VTC SIPR.

5 If its unclassified information, the witness will testify

6 by telephone or by some other method; but we will not have a

7 closed-session where there is no classified information to be

8 discussed.

9 Weighing the constitutional questions at play at that, I

10 find that they trump any issues of personal appearance by VTC of that

11 witness versus telephonic appearance by that witness.

12 The difference between those two things cannot possibly be

13 important enough to trump the constitutional issues associated with

14 that person testifying by telephone or not by telephone.

15 ADC: No issues from the defense, Your Honor.

16 TC: I'm not even sure that I'm a hundred percent sure who we're

17 talking about, but I think I do. And I think it is a defense

18 witness; so obviously, the government doesn't have any issues.

19 MJ: All right. Let's see. Is that all we need to discuss

20 then?
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1 TC: Just to confirm, Your Honor, for the purposes of the

2 proceedings beginning on the 23rd, I just wanted to confirm our

3 scheduling -- that we do not intend to have any proceedings on

4 Friday?

5 MJ: The 27th, that's right.

6 TC: And that the plan is to end at 1500 on each day that we're

7 presenting testimony?

8 MJ: That's right. Unless, the defense tells me they want to go

9 longer to take a witness that they want to get done for that day or

10 something. You know, I mean, I'm willing to flex on that 1500 end

11 time but, obviously, at the defense's discretion on that.

12 TC: Yes, sir. We'd just ask for some degree of certainty.

13 Because of the number of witnesses that are coming in, we're

14 staggering travel., So if we're going to go significantly past that,

15 we would potentially need to adjust fire on that.

16 MJ: We're not going to go significantly past that.

17 TC: Yes, sir.

18 MJ: I'm just talking about -- you can't -- it's impossible to

19 end work right on the dot every day.

20 TC: Certainly.
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1 MJ: So we just need to be prepared to go a little bit longer or

2 a little less. And I'm sure your witness TPFDL will work out just

3 fine.

4 TC: Yes, sir. Nothing further from the government.

5 MJ: All right. Defense?

6 [Pause.]

7 ADC: I'm sorry, Your Honor. I just want to check with the team.

8 MJ: Sure.

9 [Pause.]

10 ADC: Nothing further from the defense, Your Honor.

11 MJ: Okay. The court is in recess.

12 [The court-martial recessed at 1314, 16 October 2017.]

13 [END OF PAGE]
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1 It's unfortunate that 23-year-old Private First Class

2 Bergdahl, when he made that decision, did not understand his mental

3 disease and defect at that time. And he probably, hypothetically,

4 shouldn't have been in the Army. But with this issue, Your Honor,

5 you should keep in perspective that the crimes that he committed were

6 military-specific crimes. He left his post, and he was gone for a

7 few hours to which -- he was then tortured for five years by the

8 Taliban and left with severe, long-lasting, physical and

9 psychological issues that he will carry with him for the rest of his

10 life.

11 Punishment should be just, Your Honor, and Sergeant

12 Bergdahl acknowledges that. He acknowledges that by accepting

13 responsibility for his actions. And in considering punishment, the

14 defense would request that, based on the natures of nature of these

15 crimes being military-specific crimes and Sergeant Bergdahl's

16 mitigating circumstances of his schizotypal personality disorder that

17 he didn't understand -- the defense requests that you characterize

18 his sentence appropriately -- or excuse me -- characterize his

19 service appropriately. And an appropriate sentence that the defense

20 would submit to the Court is a sentence of no confinement.
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1 Sergeant Bergdahl has been punished enough. Even the most

2 glorious of confinement facilities would serve no rehabilitative

3 purpose or any principle under our Manual for Courts-Martial with

4 regard to an appropriate sentence, based on what Sergeant Bergdahl

5 has suffered at the hands of his Taliban captors for five years and

6 the long-standing physical effects that he would have from that.

7 But punishment is warranted for his actions, and the

8 defense would request that you give Sergeant Bergdahl a dishonorable

9 discharge and characterize his service appropriately.

10 However, Your Honor, justice is not sending him back

11 somewhere where he is going to be taken out of society when he's

12 demonstrated, now eight years later, after going through five years

13 of captivity, that he is ready to be a productive member of society

14 and move forward.

15 And based on that, Your Honor, the defense respectfully

16 requests that you sentence Sergeant Bergdahl to a dishonorable

17 discharge. Characterize his service appropriately but give him an

18 opportunity to move forward with [sic] what he's suffered at the

19 hands of the Taliban.

20 Thank you.
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1 TC: Yes, sir.

2 MJ: And then I will close the court now, reopen, recess, come

3 back Friday morning, and

4 TC: Yes, sir. Open the court.

5 MJ: Open the court -- well, yeah. And recess -- or close the

6 court for further deliberations.

7 TC: Yes, sir.

8 MJ: All right. The court is closed.

9 [The court-martial closed at 1144, 2 November 2017.]

10 [The court-martial opened at 1653, 2 November 2017.]

11 MJ: The court is called to order. All parties who were present

12 when the court closed are again present.

13 Anything we need to talk about before we recess?

14 TC: No, Your Honor.

15 ADC3: No, Your Honor.

16 MJ: Very well. The court is in recess.

17 [The court-martial recessed at 1653, 2 November 2017.]

18 [END OF PAGE]
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1 [The court-martial was called to order at 0902, 3 November 2017.]

2 MJ: The court is called to order. All parties who were present

3 when the court recessed are again present.

4 Counsel, anything before I close the court?

5 TC: No, sir.

6 ADC3: Urn

7 TC: Oh, sorry

8 ADC3: Yeah.

9 TC: Yeah. I'm sorry. Go ahead.

10 ADC3: Your Honor, we do have a request to seal two exhibits.

11 MJ: What are they?

12 ADC3: We would ask to seal Appellate Exhibit 67 and

13 Defense Exhibit 0.

14 MJ: Defense Exhibit 0.

15 [Pause.]

16 MJ: Okay. And Appellate Exhibit 67, you say?

17 ADC3: Yes, sir.

18 MJ: Okay. I understand 0.

19 67 -- oh, these are the -- okay. These are the Army

20 enlistment documents that also have some
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1 ADC3: Personal information.

2 MJ: older stuff -- older, prior service stuff in there.

3 ADC3: Yes, sir.

4 MJ: All right. Any objection to that?

5 TC: No, sir.

6 MJ: All right. Defense Exhibit 0 is sealed, and Appellate

7 Exhibit 67 is also sealed.

8 ADC3: Thank you, sir.

9 MJ: I'll sign those orders, and those are sealed.

10 Anything else?

11 ADC3: No, sir.

12 TC: No, sir.

13 MJ: Very well. The court is closed.

14 [The court-martial closed at 0903, 3 November 2017.]

15 [The court-martial opened at 1133, 3 November 2017.]

16 MJ: The court is called to order. All parties who were present

17 when the court closed are again present.

18 Accused and Defense Counsel, please rise.

19 [The accused and his defense counsel did as directed.]
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1 MJ: Sergeant Robert B. Bergdahl, this court-martial sentences

2 you:

3 To be reduced to the grade of E-l;

4 To forfeit $1,000 pay per month for 10 months; and

5 To be dishonorably discharged from the service.

6 You may be seated.

7 [The accused and his defense counsel did as directed.]

8 MJ: Is there anything else to take up before the court

9 adjourns?

10 TC: No, sir.

11 CDC: There is, Your Honor.

12 In the court's last written order, and I forget what the

13 appellate exhibit number is, you inquired -- you indicated that you

14 would enter a particular order if we requested.

15 MJ: Yes.

16 CDC: You may recall the last little paragraph.

17 MJ: I do.

18 CDC: The answer to the court's question is no, and I would like

19 to give you the briefest of explanations.

20 MJ: Okay.
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UNITED STATES ARMY TRIAL JUDICIARY

SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, FORT BRAGG, NORTH CAROLINA

j
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA )

)
v. ) Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law

) and Ruling -- Defense Motion to
SGT Robert B. Bergdahl ) Disqualify Convening Authority and
HHC, STB, U.S. Army FORSCOM ) Vacate Referral and for Other Relief
Fort Bragg, NC 28310 )

j 30 September 2016

1. The accused moves this court disqualify the convening authority and vacate the
referral, and order that, in the event the charges are re-referred to court-martial and
any findings of guilty are entered, the sentence may not exceed "no punishment."
Before the court could rule on this motion, the defense submitted a supplemental
motion and requested the court also adduce further evidence on the issue of
disqualification of the convening authority. This ruling will address both the motion
(D APP 38) as well as the supplement and motion to adduce further evidence (D APP
46). The defense bears the burden of persuasion on all issues.

FINDINGS OF FACT

2. I considered the pleadings of the parties, the testimony of SGT Destiny Daughtrey
and General Robert Abrams, as well as all appellate exhibits submitted on the matter
and not objected to by the parties. I find the following facts by a preponderance of
the evidence:

a. Prior to taking command of U.S. Army Forces Command (FORSCOM)
General Abrams served as the senior military assistant to the Secretary of Defense.
In this position, General Abrams was present at briefings regarding the efforts to
recover SGT Bergdahl from the Haqqani Network1 and was aware of the negotiations
to do so. These briefings concerned the feasibility and risk associated with the plans
to recover SGT Bergdahl. After SGT Bergdahl was returned to U.S. control, General
Abrams briefed the Secretary of Defense concerning SGT Bergdahl's condition while
SGT Bergdahl was being treated and evaluated at a military hospital. General
Abrams was not present when the AR 15-6 investigation report by MG Dahl was
briefed to the Secretary of Defense. He did read the executive summary of that
report.

1The Haqqani network is an Afghan guerilla insurgent group fighting against US-led NATO forces and the government
of Afghanistan.
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b. From September 2012 to July 2013, then Major General Abrams, serving as
the Commanding General, 3rd Infantry Division, deployed to Afghanistan and served
as the Regional Command South commander under the International Security
Assistance Force (ISAF-RC South). In that position, he received briefings on efforts
to recover SGT Bergdahl. However, he was never personally involved, nor were any
soldiers under his command ever involved, in any efforts to recover SGT Bergdahl.

c. In his duties prior to taking command of FORSCOM, General Abrams never
made a decision, exercised any command discretion or chose a course of action
regarding SGT Bergdahl or efforts to recover him. He never advocated for any
position regarding SGT Bergdahl or efforts to recover him. And, he never took any
direct action nor ordered soldiers under his command to take direct action to recover
SGT Bergdahl.

d. In approximately September 2015, after taking command of FORSCOM,
General Abrams began receiving unsolicited letters from members of the public,
whom he did not know advocating their opinions as to what should happen to SGT
Bergdahl. Most of these letters were received after General Abrams referred the
charges against SGT Bergdahl to general court-martial on 14 December 2015. After
receiving the first letter, General Abrams consulted his Staff Judge Advocate who
told him he was not required to retain the letters. From that time forward, General
Abrams would look at the letters and, once he determined that they related to this
case and were not a letter from a concerned parent regarding one of the soldiers
under his command, placed the letters in the burn bag to be destroyed by one of his
aides. It has been his practice for many years to treat all material for destruction as if
it were top secret so as to avoid any accidental disclosure of classified material.
Though he did not destroy the letters himself, he is confident they were shredded and
burned according to common practice with all matter placed in the burn bag.

e. General Abrams received approximately 100 such letters. None of them
claimed any first or even second hand knowledge about any facts in the case or
about SGT Bergdahl personally. All of the letters, as General Abrams recalls, were
from older American citizens who had served in WWII or Korea. None of the letters
made any threats against SGT Bergdahl or General Abrams if he did not follow their
recommendations. General Abrams did not follow up or direct any of his staff to
follow up on any of the letters. He did not reflect upon them or contemplate their
content. He did not consider them at all in making his decision to refer the charges in
this case to general court-martial. General Abrams is very experienced with the
military justice system, particularly as a General Court-martial Convening Authority
(GCMCA), and is committed to his duty to be fair and impartial. Thus, he applied that
principle and "tuned out the outside noise" with respect to the letters.

f. On 9 October 2015, the defense submitted objections to the Article 32
Hearing Officer's report and recommendations to the Special Court-martial

Page 2 of 9



Convening Authority (SPCMCA). This four page document was included in matters
submitted to General Abrams to consider as he decided whether to refer the charges
in this case to court-martial or to take some other action. General Abrams read the

document before making his decision.

g. Prior to referring this case to trial, General Abrams never had any
communication of any kind with Senator McCain or members of his staff regarding
SGT Bergdahl or efforts to recover him. Neither Senator McCain nor members of his
staff have ever even attempted to contact General Abrams or members of General
Abrams' staff. Though aware of Senator McCain's comments to the effect that if SGT
Bergdahl were not court-martialed and sent to jail he would hold hearings on the
matter, General Abrams was not affected by those comments and did not consider
them in making his decision as to the disposition of the charges against SGT
Bergdahl. In fact, General Abrams thought the comments were inappropriate and
that Senator McCain should not have made them.

h. General Abrams has no fear of retribution to himself or his career if action

he has taken or may take in this case is not consistent with Senator McCain's
apparent views about what should be done. Neither Senator McCain nor anyone else
has threatened or otherwise tried to forcefully influence General Abrams decisions in
this case. Though several members of the general public have expressed their
opinions (mostly favoring referral to court-martial) to him by mail, General Abrams
did not consider nor was he influenced by any of those opinions.

i. On 19 August 2016, in response to defense motion on this matter, General
Abrams prepared, swore to and signed an affidavit setting forth his recollection of
what he said in an 8 August 2016 interview with defense counsel. This document was
produced after his SJA asked if he would be interested in providing a statement
about what transpired in the interview to be used to answer the defense motion to
disqualify him (the subject of this motion). He said he would be glad to do so, he
provided guidance to the SJA, the SJA office drafted the affidavit based on his
guidance, General Abrams edited it between four and six times to ensure it accurately
reflected his recollection of the interview and then he reviewed and signed and swore
to the final version. All the words in the affidavit are his own. During the course of
the production of this affidavit, General Abrams occasionally dealt directly with trial
counsel without any member of the defense team being present.

j. No member of the prosecution team has ever given General Abrams legal
advice. He has received his legal advice on this and all other military justice matters
before him from his Staff Judge Advocate.

k. In October and November of 2015, trial counsel submitted, thru the Staff
Judge Advocate, requests to General Abrams that 10 additional attorneys be
appointed to the prosecution team on temporary duty status. General Abrams
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approved those requests. The requests were not provided to the defense until after
they were approved.

I. On 14 December 2015, General Abrams referred the charges against SGT
Bergdahl to General Court-martial. This decision was contrary to the advice of the
Article 32 PHO but consistent with the pre-trial advice of his SJA. That pretrial advice
was provided to the defense along with the referred charges and other papers
normally accompanying the charge sheet when served upon the defense.

m. Between January and May 2016, General Abrams approved several
requests for expert assistance from the prosecution. These requests and approvals
were not provided to the defense until after they were approved. Defense objected to
trial counsel about what they characterized as ex parte communications with the
GCMCA about the case.

n. At some point during the pendency of the Article 32 preliminary hearing in
2015, the government sent some ex parte emails to the Article 32 PHO, LTC Burke.
Some of these emails concerned certain defense requests about the Article 32
hearing and included draft responses to the defense requests for LTC Burke to sign.
He signed them unedited denying the defense requests.

o. When defense first requested to interview General Abrams, he denied the
request. Later, at the Court's suggestion, he agreed to be interviewed by the defense.
However, he stipulated that trial counsel must be present. On 8 August 2016, the
interview was conducted with trial counsel present.

p. The defense has requested to interview the SJA about trial counsel contacts
with General Abrams. The SJA has denied these requests.

LAW AND ANALYSIS

3. The military justice system has a unique construct. This construct was put in
place by Congress decades ago to ensure that the balance between the rights of the
accused and good order and discipline in the armed forces of this nation were
properly balanced. As with every other endeavor to balance such interests, certain
adjustments have been made through the years to better accomplish both goals.
One aspect of the court-martial process that has never changed is that no
commander with the authority to convene a court-martial may do so in a case where
he is an accuser. Rule for Courts-Martial (RCM) 601; Uniform Code of Military Justice
(UCMJ), Article 22. An accuser is defined by the UCMJ as: "... a person who signs
or swears to charges, any person who directs that charges nominally be signed and
sworn to by another, and any person who has an interest other than an official
interest in the prosecution of the accused." UCMJ, Article 1(9). Thus, a commander,
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who is the person who swore the charges and signed the DD Form 458 preferring the
charges, cannot be the same person who refers those charges to court-martial. This
is known as a "statutory disqualification." United States v. Hill, 46 MJ 870 (ACCA
1997). It also goes without saying that a person serving as trial counsel in a case
cannot also refer the case to trial and otherwise serve as convening authority pre or
post-trial.2 Likewise, a person who is the victim of a crime or has such a personal
interest in the outcome of a case that a reasonable person could impute to him a
personal interest or feeling in the outcome of the case, may also be considered an
accuser and, thus, disqualified from acting as a convening authority in that particular
matter. United States v. Ashby 68 MJ 108, 130 (2009); United States v. Jeter, 40 MJ 6
(CMA 1992).3 A personal or other than official interest in the prosecution of a
particular case has not been ascribed to a commander who testified on a dispositive
suppression motion. He was not disqualified from taking post-trial action in the case.
United States v Gudmundson, 57 MJ 493 (2003). In Gudmundson, the court stated
that a convening authorities' testimony at trial is not perse disqualifying but may be
so if it indicates that he has a personal connection to the case or is other than of an
official or disinterested nature. Id. No case has held that a convening authority loses
his objective non-personal status if he has ex parte communications with the trial
counsel or the defense counsel. In fact, quite the opposite is true by analogy. In
United States v. Fisher, 45 MJ 159 (1996), the convening authority was not found to
be a personal accuser and, thus, disqualified as the convening authority in a case
where he made statements critical of the defense counsel during the trial and after
the convening authority had testified for the government on a suppression motion. If
not a personal accuser when he criticizes the defense counsel as if he were a
prosecutor, one is left to wonder how he could be considered an accuser (or
prosecutor) in a case where he has had ex parte communications with the trial
counsel.

4. The consideration of the law on accuser disqualification is important to the
defense's contention that General Abrams, because he is the GCMCA, is precluded
from having ex parte communications with the parties to this proceeding. The
defense cites no law for this proposition. And, the law discussed above points the
other way. In order to sustain a motion to disqualify the convening authority, the
defense needs to prove that he has lost (or never had) a neutral and detached
position and instead has become personally involved in the prosecution of the case.
Nothing about ex parte communications with the prosecutors in this case, in-and-of
themselves, proves that to be the case. Even if one assumes for the sake of
argument that such ex parte communications are prohibited by law, there is no

2Article 6(c), UCMJ.
3A convening authority suspected of a similar offenses may be disqualified out of an abundance of cautionto preserve
the appearance of fairness. UnitedStates v. Kroop, 34 MJ 628 (AFCMR 1992), affdl% MJ 470 (CMA 1993), United
States v Anderson 36 MJ 963 (AFCMR 1993); Convening authority disqualified from taking post-trial action in a drug
case where he made public comments indicating an inelastic attitude concerning his post-trial responsibilities. United
States v Davis, 58 MJ 100 (2003); see also, UnitedStates v Thomas, 22 MJ 388, 394 (CMA 1986) (Listing examples of
unofficial interests that have disqualified convening authorities.) .
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defense. United States v. Eslinger, 70 MJ 193,198 (2011). The defense speculation
that the letters could have contained evidence admissible in sentencing beyond such
improper opinions is not supported by the evidence. First, General Abrams testified
that none of them contained any firsthand knowledge of the facts of the case or the
accused. Second, the one letter that he received of which a copy was preserved
supports this testimony. Finally, presumably, anyone who might have written
General Abrams who knows the accused well enough to have the knowledge to
speak to his character certainly should be known by the accused and his defense
counsel. Surely, there are a plethora of individuals who can provide such evidence if
needed. Any chance that there is one among the letters received by General Abrams
who knows the accused, expressed a favorable opinion as to his character and, yet,
is unknown to the accused or his counsel and thus, his or her favorable testimony
lost to the defense, will certainly be overcome by other similar, more reliable
evidence the defense may produce on this issue. Whatever the case, the court has
heard no evidence or law that stands for the proposition that the defense posits on
this issue.

8. Also, in its prayer for relief in D APP 46, the defense urges this court to:

1.) Hold the Motion to Disqualify (D APP 34) in abeyance until new evidence can be
taken and a hearing held. The Court held its ruling in abeyance until a 39(a) session
could be held on 28 September 2016. Because the Court does not believe additional
evidence is necessary on this issue and will not order the SJA to make herself
available for an interview, further abeyance is not necessary.

2.) Order the government to disclose all of its ex parte communications with the
GCMCA. The court declines to do so. In its pleadings on this matter, the government
has represented as officers of this court that no member of the prosecution has ever
provided any legal advice to General Abrams or advocated any position to him
concerning referral of these charges, appointment of experts or other members of the
trial and defense teams, the extension of the accused's ETS date or the decision
regarding the accused's request for administrative action (see D APP 44). The
defense has presented no evidence to this court to indicate otherwise. Simply put,
not all contacts with the convening authority are prohibited and some are even
required by the law. Contacting him ex parte as a witness on a motions hearing is
not evidence that other more nefarious and potentially improper contacts have
occurred.

3.) Direct the SJA make herself available for an interview. Nothing submitted by the
defense supports this request.

9. In summary, nothing about General Abrams involvement in this matter to date
disqualifies him in any way from serving in the capacity of convening authority in this
case. He has no personal knowledge of the facts of the case, he has not destroyed
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evidence in the case, he has not been improperly influenced by Senator McCain,
letters from the public or the trial counsel in the performance of his duties as
convening authority, and he did not improperly ignore the defense submissions to
the Article 32 appointing authority as he was deciding whether to refer the charges to
trial. Any ex parte communications he may have had with trial counsel were not
inappropriate and do not disqualify him as the convening authority. And, he is not
disqualified merely because he was a witness in the motions hearing to resolve the
facts surrounding this defense motion to disqualify him.

RULING

10. Defense motion is DENIED.

O*.
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UNITED STATES ARMY TRIAL JUDICIARY
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, FORT BRAGG, NORTH CAROLINA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

SGT Robert B. Bergdahl
HHC, STB, U.S. Army FORSCOM
Fort Bragg, NC 28310

Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law
and Ruling - Defense Motion in Limine

(Inability to Return)

22 June 2017

1. The defense moves this Court in limine pursuant to RCM 906(b)(13) for a
determination that a period of desertion or unauthorized absence ends when a
soldier is prevented from returning to military control because he has been taken
prisoner or abducted. I considered the written motions of the parties, all matters
appended thereto, and the oral arguments of counsel.

FINDINGS OF FACT

2. I find the following facts by a preponderance of the evidence:

a. On 25 March 2015, the accused was charged with one charge, one
specification of desertion with intent shirk important service and avoid important
duty beginning on 30 June 2009 and ending when he was returned to military control
on or about 31 May 2014.1

b. Very soon after he left his OP and during almost the entirety of his absence,
the accused was held captive/hostage by the Haqqani Network, a Taliban affiliated
organization. During the entirety of the time in question, the United States (along
with coalition forces) was engaged in combat operations against the Taliban and the
Haqqani network.

LAW AND ANALYSIS

3. The defense urges that in order for them to be able to advise SGT Bergdahl and in
order for him to make an informed decision about how he should plea and the
possible maximum punishment for that plea, they need to know whether a period of
desertion or unauthorized absence ends when a soldier is prevented from returning
because he is taken prisoner or abducted at some point after the period of absence

1Theaccused was also charged withone charge, onespecification of misbehavior before the enemy inviolation of
Article 99, UCMJ. That charge is not relevant to this motion.
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begins. The Court is not persuaded that such a determination is necessary or
appropriate at this time or for the purposes the defense cites.

4. If the accused were to plead guilty to the lesser included offense to Charge I of
Absence Without Leave or Going From His Place of Duty for the period of time when
he left until the period of time he was captured/abducted by the Taliban, the Court
would conduct a providence (Care) inquiry to determine beyond a reasonable doubt,
whether the accused committed every element of whichever lesser offense to which
he pled. In either case, the maximum punishment, at that point, for the offense to
which the accused would have pled guilty, is clearly set forth in the MCM. See If
10.e.(1), (2)(a). Of course, since the government has charged the greater offense,
they have the option of going forward in an effort to prove that greater offense. If
they do "go forward" and contend that the accused was absent longer than the
period of time to which he has pled guilty, they must prove, beyond a reasonable
doubt, that he was voluntarily absent for that period of time. If they are unable to do
so, the accused cannot be found guilty of the greater offense. If they are able to do
so, the maximum punishment for that offense is also plainly set forth in the MCM.
See1J9.e.(1).

5. What the defense is really seeking is a determination by this Court that, under the
circumstances described above, the accused was not voluntarily absent once he was
captured and, therefore, the government cannot prove any greater offense beyond a
reasonable doubt. But, this is a question of fact for the trier of fact to determine after
being properly instructed on the applicable law. This is not a question for the Court
to determine at this point in the proceedings.

6. However, if the defense would like to offer a motion to urge the Court to give
certain specific tailored instructions to the trier of fact at the appropriate time, the
Court will be glad to consider such a motion and to instruct the trier of fact
consistent with applicable law. In the alternative, the Court will consider this motion
as such a motion and provide tailored instructions on the law as the Court deems
appropriate.

RULING

7. Defense motion in limine is DENIED.

^?AA/r-Ai
JEFFERY R. NANCE

COL, JA
Military Judge
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UNITED STATES ARMY TRIAL JUDICIARY
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, FORT BRAGG, NORTH CAROLINA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

v.

SGT Robert B. Bergdahl
HHC, STB, U.S. Army FORSCOM
Fort Bragg, NC 28310

Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law
and Ruling - Defense Motion to

Dismiss - Failure to State an Offense

29 June 2017

1. The defense moves this Court dismiss Charge II and its specification pursuant to
RCM 905(b)(2) for failure to state an offense. I considered the written motions of the
parties, all matters appended thereto, if any, and oral arguments of counsel.

FINDINGS OF FACT

2. I find the following facts by a preponderance of the evidence:

a. On 25 March 2015, the accused was charged with one charge, one
specification of misbehavior before the enemy in violation of Article 99, UCMJ.1

b. The wording of that charge is as follows: In that Sergeant Robert (Bowe)
Bowdrie Bergdahl, United States Army, did, at or near Observation Post Mest, Paktika
Province, Afghanistan, on or about 30 June 2009, before the enemy, endanger the
safety of Observation Post Mest and Task Force Yukon, which it was his duty to
defend, by intentional misconduct in that he left Observation Post Mest alone; and
left without authority; and wrongfully caused search and recovery operations.

LAW AND ANALYSIS

3. "The due process principle of fair notice mandates that 'an accused has a right to
know what offense and under what legal theory' he (may) be convicted." United
States v. Jones, 68 M.J. 465, 468 (C.A.A.F. 2010) (citing United States v. Medina, 66
M.J. 21, 26-27 (C.A.A.F. 2008)). A charge states an offense if it puts the accused on
notice of the offense against which he must defend himself. United States v. Curtiss,
42 CMR 4 (CMA 1970); United States v. Barner; 56 MJ 131 (2001). "A specification is
sufficient if it alleges every element of the charged offense expressly or by necessary
implication .. .," pleads jurisdiction, places the accused on notice, and protects him

1Theaccused was alsocharged with onecharge, onespecification of desertion with the intent to avoid hazardous duty or
to shirk important service in violation of Article 85, UCMJ.
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against double jeopardy. RCM 307(c)(3). Each specification must directly, or by clear
implication, allege every essential element of the offense or it is fatally deficient and
must be dismissed. United States v. Watkins, 21 MJ 208 (CMA 1986). Though the
Manual for Courts-martial (MCM) provides model specifications, those model
specifications are not fool-proof -- they are not "the law."

4. Rules of common English Grammar dictate that semicolon use in a list of things
should occur only if there are commas appearing elsewhere in that list. For example:
"Present at the meeting were the following: J. Smith, President; E. Snow, Secretary;
and P. Pratt, Treasurer." Thus, items of a list having no commas internal to each item
in the list should be set off by commas, not semicolons. For example: "The Panda
Bear likes to eat stems, shoots, and leaves."2 The model specification from the MCM
provides, in pertinent part: "... by . .. (intentional misconduct in that he/she became
drunk and fired flares, thus revealing the location of his/her unit).. ."3 MCM U 23.f.(3).

5. The elements of Article 99(3) are as follows: 1) That it was the duty of the
accused to defend a certain command, unit, place, ship, or certain military property;
2) That the accused committed certain disobedience, neglect, or intentional
misconduct; 3) That the accused thereby endangered the safety of the command,
unit, place, ship, or military property; and 4) That this act occurred while the accused
was before or in the presence of the enemy. In this case, the government chose not
to plead "disobedience," "neglect," or "in the presence of the enemy." They did,
however, plead "intentional misconduct" and "before the enemy." Intentional
misconduct does not include a mere error in judgment. MCM ^ 23.c.(3)(b). No more
legal guidance as to what is or is not "intentional misconduct' is provided in the
statute.

6. Case law on Article 99(3) is scarce - particularly with respect to what is or is not
intentional misconduct. Two ancient4 cases are all that are available of superior
court guidance as to the meaning of these words. They are: United States v. Carey,
15 CMR 112 (1954) and United States v. Miller, 44 CMR 849 (ACMR 1971). In Carey,
the Court of Military Appeals, considering a claim of insufficiency of the evidence to
support the findings of guilty, considered whether the actions of a Korean Conflict
tank commander in getting drunk while his tank was defending a portion of a
defensive line where the enemy was 2500 yards from his position, constituted
"intentional misconduct." The Court found: "(T)hatsuch intoxication constitutes
intentional misconduct, there is no doubt, for drunkenness is a violation of Article
134 ..., and, when it occurs while on duty, it is a violation of Article 112 . .." Carey,
at 116. The Court went on to find that "every essential element... was established
beyond a reasonable doubt." Id. The Court explained that because of vagueness in
what constituted misbehavior in the past, the drafters of the current Article 99

2Eats, Shoots and Leaves: The Zero Tolerance Approach to Punctuation, Lynne Truss (2003).
3The Court notes that this clause is properly punctuated according to standard rules of English Grammar.
4No negative implication as to the validity of these cases is intended by use of the term "ancient."
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determined to give it more definition. Id at 115. Thus, they provided more specific
language to remove from the offense "mere error(s) in judgment," (but, rather)
contemplate(ing) a transgression of some established and definite rule of action,
where no discretion is left, except what necessity may demand ... a violation of a
definite law." Id. (Internal quotations omitted.)

7. Miller looks at the issue from the opposite side - what conduct did not constitute
"intentional misconduct." The Army Court considered a situation where Miller, on
guard duty during an enemy attack on a fuel depot during the Vietnam War, found
himself surprised, unprotected, and outgunned. In response, he played dead on the
floor of his flimsy, tin-sided guard shack. Miller, at 849. The Army Court found that
this was "not much different from taking cover" and, thus, not misconduct (though
certainly intentional). Id at 853. Interestingly, in arriving at this conclusion the Court
stated: "While we might speculate that the accused should have done more than (he)
did, there is not a scintilla of evidence to show that (he) violated any specific orders
or instructions by remaining in the gate shack during the brief but violent enemy
attack." Id. Thus, this determination is clearly a fact specific, rather than a strict
legal, determination, because, specific actions that might have been intentional
misconduct under one circumstance -- say where an accused had time to
contemplate the situation and his actions and could have helped fight off the attack
but failed to do so - did not constitute intentional misconduct under the particular
circumstances present in Miller. And, violation of "instructions," had there been
evidence of such, could have satisfied the intentional misconduct element.

8. A military criminal statute is not void for vagueness unless the accused "could not
reasonably understand that his contemplated conduct is proscribed." Parker v. Levy,
417 US 733, 757 (1973) (quoting United States v. Harriss, 347 US 612, 617 (1954)).5 As
the Court stated in Parker. "The strong presumptive validity that attaches to an Act
of Congress has led this Court to hold many times that statutes are not automatically
invalidated as vague simply because difficulty is found in determining whether
certain marginal offenses fall within their language. Indeed, we have consistently
sought an interpretation which supports the constitutionality of legislation." (Internal
citations omitted). Id.

9. The Court is persuaded that Charge II and its specification does state an offense.
The accused is on fair notice that he must defend himself for leaving Observation
Post Mest alone and without authority, thereby wrongfully causing search and
recovery operations. Certainly, this notifies him that he has to defend himself from

5The Court in Parker reasoned that because of the factors differentiating military society from civilian society the proper
standard for determining vagueness is the standard that applies to criminal statues regulating economic affairs rather than
the stricter standard applied to criminal statues regulating speech. In Parker, the Court was concerned with Article 133
and 134 (Clause 1 and 2) offenses. These offenses are very similar to Article 99 in that they seek to criminally proscribe
conduct which, had it not occurred in the military context, would never have been criminal. To determine whether an
Article 99 charge is constitutionally vague without considering the military context of the offense would gut the statute
and frustrate congressional intent.
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the charge that he has intentionally committed a series of interrelated acts before the
enemy which, even if not particularly proscribed by some other criminal statute, are
without authority and wrongful and, thus, criminal. This language eliminates from
consideration any conduct that might be an error in judgment. Even if one were to
apply the Carey holding as establishing a rule of law that "intentional misconduct"
means that the charged misconduct must violate some other punitive article of the
UCMJ, the Court is persuaded that, taken together, this series of alleged misconduct
by the accused could potentially be a violation of several other Articles of the UCMJ.6
However, this Court is not persuaded that Carey establishes such a rule. The Carey
court, deciding if the evidence was sufficient to support a conviction, reviewed the
evidence with respect to each element of an Article 99(3) charge. Addressing the
"intentional misconduct" element, the court found that the evidence was sufficient
because the conduct in question would violate Articles 112 and 134. This does not
mean that all misconduct charged under Article 99(3) must violate some other
criminal provision in order to sustain a conviction for this offense. Had Congress so
intended, they certainly could have included such language, as they have done with
other offenses. There mere inclusion by the Carey court of other punitive Articles as
types of "intentional misconduct" does not exclude other misconduct not specifically
proscribed by some criminal statute from being "intentional misconduct."

10. The Miller case supports this reasoning. In deciding that Miller's conduct was
not "misconduct" as contemplated by Article 99(3), the Army Court found that there
was no evidence that his lying on the floor of the guard shack was any type of
misconduct. The Court reasoned that Miller's conduct might have been, as far as the
evidence showed, the result of being surprised, dazed, or knocked down; or that he
may have been simply taking a few moments to gather themselves and figure out
what to do; or that he made a conscious decision that leaving the guard shack would
have been useless under the circumstances. Without some evidence to establish

that the accused was under some "specific order" or "instruction" to do something
other than what (he) did, the court was not convinced that, "under the attendant
circumstances," the accused's conduct constituted intentional misconduct within the
meaning of Article 99. Miller at 853.

11. Regarding the issue of the government's use of semicolons in the specification -
this is an incorrect use of this punctuation device. However, unlike statutory
construction, the Court is not bound by the government's grammatical errors in
deciding what is charged. Furthermore, the accused, for that matter, cannot
reasonably be said to have been misled by these grammatical errors. There is no
doubt to this Court that the use of the "and" conjunction after each semi-colon and
the interrelated dependence of the ideas expressed in each allegedly erroneously
created independent clause, controls the meaning. These are dependent clauses that
mean: The accused left OP Mest alone and without authority and, thereby, wrongfully
caused search and recovery operations. Had the government looked closely at the

6Article 85, Article 86, Article 92, and Article 134 (Clause 1) just to name a few.
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model specification in the MCM they would have noticed that the model specification
provides precisely the sentence construction they needed for this specification.
Whatever the case, this is a scrivener's error that cannot be said to mislead the
accused or to make the specification invalid for failure to state an offense. The Court
is open to suggestions from the parties as to how to address any confusion this poor
drafting may cause the panel members.

12. Turning now to the defense contention that, if the court finds that the misconduct
referred to in Article 99(3) need not be a violation of a separate criminal statute in
order to state an offense, this particular statute is void for vagueness, the court is not
persuaded by this argument. The very strong presumption in evaluating acts of
congress favors validity. Here, the defense contends that if misconduct does not
exclusively mean criminal misconduct, then no accused could ever know what non
criminal act might be more than a mere error in judgment. This argument ignores not
only the huge gulf between mere errors in judgment and criminal misconduct but, it
also ignores the important role factual context plays in each charge. There is simply
no way the accused could not reasonably have understand that his conduct was
proscribed. Furthermore, the alleged conduct cannot even be said to be "marginal"
misconduct. The government avers that the accused left his combat outpost
intentionally, without authority and for the purpose of causing search and recovery
operations, which he ultimately did cause. The specification alleges that all of this
was done "before the enemy." How could such alleged conduct be characterized as
anything other than misconduct under any definition of the word? Finally, Article
99(3) must be evaluated with a less strict test than the average civilian criminal
statute because Articles of the UCMJ are designed to get at more than simply
criminal conduct. The UCMJ is concerned with the good order and discipline of the
members of the Armed Forces. So, unlike the recalcitrant Wal-Mart employee, a
service member really can earn himself a federal criminal conviction for repeatedly
being late to work. Perhaps no Article of the UCMJ more pointedly addresses the
issue of good order and discipline than Article 99. For, if a soldier misbehaves before
the enemy, he has violated the most basic aspect of who he is expected to be and
what he is expected to do as a soldier. The Court's conclusion here does not mean
that the government will be able to prove this or any of the other element of this
offense beyond a reasonable doubt. However, they have clearly pled (stated) an
offense and have earned the burden of trying to do so.
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RULING

13. Defense motion to dismiss is DENIED. However, any implied contention by the
government in their pleadings on this matter that they have actually pled
disobedience, neglect, and in the presence of the enemy, is not persuasive. Those
portions of Article 99(3) are pled neither expressly nor by implication. The accused
does not have to concern himself with defending against disobedience, neglect, or in
the presence of the enemy.

JEFFERY R. NANCE
-Y/p/Y

COL, JA
Military Judge
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UNITED STATES ARMY TRIAL JUDICIARY

SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, FORT BRAGG, NORTH CAROLINA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

v.

SGT Robert B. Bergdahl
HHC, STB, U.S. Army FORSCOM
Fort Bragg, NC 28310

Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law
and Ruling —Defense Motion to

Dismiss - Lack of Personal Jurisdiction

(D App 97)

2 October 2017

1. The defense moves this Court dismiss all Charges and specifications because
they believe the Court lacks personal jurisdiction over the accused. I considered the
written motions ofthe parties, all matters appended thereto, if any, and oral
arguments of counsel. The burden of persuasion is on the government to prove the
facts related to this matter by a preponderance of the evidence.

FINDINGS OF FACT

2. I find the following facts by a preponderance of the evidence1:

a. On 25 March 2015, the accused was charged with one charge, one
specification of desertion with the intent to avoid hazardous duty or to shirk
important service in violation of Article 85, UCMJ, and one charge, one specification
of misbehavior before the enemy in violation of Article 99, UCMJ. Each of these
charges alleged that the accused was a member of the United States Army both at the
time of the alleged commission of the offenses (on or about 30 June 2009) and at the
time of preferral of charges.

b. On 12 June 2008, the accused enlisted in the Army for a term of three years
and 16 weeks. His end term of service (ETS) date at that time was o/a 1 October 2011.

c. On or about 30 June 2009, while serving with his assigned unit in
Afghanistan, the accused went missing and was captured by the Taliban o/a 1 July
2009. He returned to military control on 31 May 2014.

d. SGT Bergdahl's enlistment was extended one year as his 1 October 2011
ETS date approached and he was, as far as the Army knew, still under the control of

1By email dated 13 September 2017 and marked as AE 61, the government agreed to the facts alleged in the defense
motion (D App 97) but not to the defense's conclusions associated with those facts.
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the Taliban. One year later, while he was still under the control of the Taliban, his
enlistment was extended by 10 more years - to 1 October 2022.

e. On 4 August 2010 a Board of Inquiry convened to consider the accused's
status. That board recommended that his status remain "missing-captured." The
board also discussed whether the accused had violated the UCMJ but ultimately
decided to wait until they had an opportunity to interview the accused to reach a
conclusion on this issue. AE 62.

f. On 14 July 2014, after the accused had gone through medical examination
incident to his return to military control and had participated in debriefings by other
Army personnel, he was assigned to his present unit and a FLAG was initiated. AE
62.

g. In July 2015, the accused applied for and received access to his Savings
Deposit Plan account. AE 62.

h. On 24 June 2016 the accused requested that Army Human Resources
Command issue a discharge certificate with a 1 October 2011 discharge date and an
honorable characterization of service.

i. The accused has never been issued a DD 214 nor had a final accounting of
pay.

j. After he went through the first two phases of re-integration,2 the accused
was re-assigned to 5th Army, U.S. Army North. This happened sometime in July
2014. When the accused was about to be assigned to his unit, LTG Percy Wiggins,
Commander of U.S. Army North and 5th Army, received a telephone call from the
Secretary to the Army General Staff. He was told that the accused was being
assigned to his unit and that he was responsible to take care of the accused but that
UCMJ would be retained at a higher level. His SJA, who was present at the
conversation, commented that he thought that meant FORSCOM would exercise
jurisdiction. LTG Wiggins assumed that was true as well. When the accused came to
him the Dahl3 AR 15-6 investigation was still under way. LTG Wiggins did not get
involved in the FLAG process. That was done by his BN Commander. LTG Wiggins
emphasized that his people focus on re-integrating the accused, making sure that he
was safe, and ensuring that he was treated like every other soldier. Though he was
aware of significant media attention regarding the accused, he did not pay much
attention to it and did not really give their reports of desertion much credit.

2Re-integration in this instance is a threephaseprocess which usually begins in country and progresses quickly backto
CONUS. It involves medical care, debriefing, decompressing, support, return to duty and other necessary aspects. The
Army unit responsible for this process is U.S. Army South —located at Fort Sam Houston, TX.
3Referringto Major General Dahl, the AR-15-6 investigating officer.
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LAW AND ANALYSIS

3. Personal jurisdiction under the UCMJ is set forth in Article 2. Paragraph (a)(1)
provides that: "The following persons are subject to this chapter: (1) Members of the
regular component ofthe armed forces, including those awaiting discharge after
expiration of their terms of enlistment..." Paragraph (b) describes what constitutes
becoming a valid "member" of an armed force per paragraph (a) as a "voluntary
enlistment of any person who has the capacity to understand the significance of
enlisting ..." Paragraph (c) was added to Article 2 in 1979 to overrule case law that
found a lack of jurisdiction where there was a defective enlistment. United States v.
Russo, 1 MJ 137 (CMA 1975). This amendment codified the concept of constructive
enlistment as a way of establishing personal jurisdiction where the mutual intent of
the parties can be established by certain factors and which contain the two same
basic elements, voluntariness and competency, that exist in paragraph (a). The
language of paragraph (c) is broad and general and serves as a catch all to allow
personal jurisdiction over individuals who might be serving under otherwise
defective enlistments. Paragraph (c) cannot be read in any way to limit paragraph
(a).4 It expands it.

4. Personal jurisdiction does not necessarily terminate at the end of a contractual
term of service. Rules for Courts-Martial (RCM) 202(a) discussion, (c)(1). There must
be delivery of a discharge certificate (commonly referred to as a DD 214) and a final
accounting of pay. 10 U.S.C. § 1168(a); United States v. Nettles, 74 MJ 289 (2015);
United States v. Melanson, 53 MJ 1 (2000); Smith v. Vanderbush, 47 MJ 56 (1997);
United States v. King. 27 MJ 327 (CMA 1989).5 Such jurisdiction continues despite
even unreasonable delay by the government in discharging a service member at the
end of an enlistment - even if that service member objects. United States v. Poole,
30 MJ 149 (CMA 1990). And, jurisdiction continues even if the government fails to
comply with service regulations requiring affirmative action to extend his enlistment.
United States v. Hutchins, 4 MJ 190 (CMA 1978); United States v. Williams, 21 MJ 254
(ACMR 1985). However, if, after expiration of his enlistment, the service member
demands a discharge and no action is taken to discharge or try him within a
reasonable time, jurisdiction may expire. United States v. Douse, 12 MJ 473 (CMA
1982).

5. The defense basic contention is that because the accused was unlawfully retained
for 11 years beyond his original ETS date in October 2011 the government lost
jurisdiction over him on that date and cannot try him for the charged offenses. In

4Seegenerally, Fredrikson, "The Unsheathing of a Jurisdiction Sword: TheApplication of Article 2(c)to Reservists,"
Army Lawyer, July 2004.
5The numberof cases that establish this fundamental legal principle are legion. For the sake of economy, the Court has
only mentioned a few.
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support of this proposition the defense cites several Article III6 court opinions
dealing with the validity of enlistment contracts when the government failed to follow
its own regulations. This Court does not dispute the validity of those cases.
However, even assuming without deciding that the extension ofthe accused for 11
years beyond his ETS date was not valid, that is not determinative of court-martial
jurisdiction. The cases the defense cites simply do not apply to the question of
personal court-martial jurisdiction. Jurisdiction, as has been previously stated, is
established by a valid enlistment and continues until there is delivery of a DD 214 and
a final accounting of pay.7

6. In this case, there is no dispute that in June 2008 the accused voluntarily enlisted
in the United States Army.8 In June or July of 2009 he went missing and soon was
believed, based on solid intelligence, to be in the hands ofthe enemy. Soon
thereafter and well before his 2011 ETS date, the accused was listed on military roles
as "missing/captured." His ETS date was first extended by one year and then by an
additional ten years. After he was returned to military control in May 2014, the
accused was properly processed through the Army's re-integration process.
Simultaneously, an AR 15-6 investigation was begun into the facts and
circumstances concerning the accused's falling into the hands ofthe enemy. The
accused was interviewed and provided a statement as part of this investigation. The
accused was FLAGd almost as soon as he returned to military control. And, soon
after the AR 15-6 investigation was completed, court-martial charges were preferred
against him. Over a year later, two years after he returned to military control and
more than five years after his 2011 ETS date, the accused requested to be discharged
retroactive to June 2011. That request was denied.

7. There is nothing about the facts and circumstances surrounding either the
accused's original enlistment, the extension of his ETS date while in the control of
the enemy, or the processing of the accused after he was returned to military control
that shows any evidence that he was ever discharged from the service as that term is
defined in court-martial jurisdiction statutes, regulations, or jurisprudence. His
enlistment was voluntary and valid. The extension of his ETS date was appropriate
under the circumstances. He was never discharged from the service for purposes of

6 Referring to Article III ofThe Constitution ofthe United States of America. Defense references include United
Supreme Court cases as well as Federal Circuit and District Court cases.
7And, even beyond that, where a service member received hisDD214 and final accounting of payin a foreign country
and was told how much money he would receive but still had not accessed that money in his bank account in the United
States, jurisdiction was held to still apply to him and he was brought back to Germany to face trial. UnitedStates v.
Brevard, 57 MJ 789 (ACCA 2002).
8Duringthe hearing on this motion, defense counsel in-artfully referred to the accused's "capacity" to enlistwhenhe
meant to argue that his enlistment was not voluntary because it was extended for 11 years without his consent or request.
When the Court sought clarification, the defense consulted with the accused and discussed amongst themselves and then
assured the Court that they had no evidence and no reason to believe that the accused was not competent to enlist when he
enlisted in 2008. The defense affirmatively eschewed any claim of lack of capacity.
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court-martial jurisdiction. Accordingly, this court-martial has personal jurisdiction to
try the accused for the charges against him.

RULING

8. The defense motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction is DENIED.

//A
ICE

COL, JA
Military Judge
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UNITED STATES ARMY TRIAL JUDICIARY

SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, FORT BRAGG, NORTH CAROLINA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

SGT Robert B. Bergdahl
HHC, STB, U.S. Army FORSCOM
Fort Bragg, NC 28310

Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law
and Ruling - Defense Motion to

Dismiss Charge I (Condonation of
Desertion) (D App 98)

4 October 2017

1. The defense moves this Court dismiss Charge I and its specification (Desertion)
pursuant to Rules for Courts-Martial (RCM) 907 because the General Court-Martial
Convening Authority has condoned any desertion alleged to have taken place. I
considered the written motions of the parties, all matters appended thereto, if any,
the testimony of witnesses, and oral arguments of counsel. The burden of
persuasion is on the defense to prove the facts related to this matter by a
preponderance of the evidence.

FINDINGS OF FACT

2. I find the following facts by a preponderance of the evidence:

a. On 25 March 2015, the accused was charged with one charge, one
specification of desertion with the intent to avoid hazardous duty or to shirk
important service in violation of Article 85, UCMJ, and one charge, one specification
of misbehavior before the enemy in violation of Article 99, UCMJ.

b. On or about 30 June 2009, while serving with his assigned unit in
Afghanistan, the accused went missing and was captured by the Taliban o/a 1 July
2009.

c. An Army Regulation (AR) 15-6 investigating officer was immediately
appointed and conducted an investigation. In his 4 August 2009 findings, the IO
concluded that the accused had voluntarily absented himself from his unit "in search
of some kind of adventure" but that it would be impossible to determine exactly why
he left until he was returned to military control and was questioned. His military
status was listed as "duty status -whereabouts unknown" (DUSTWUN) and
eventually changed to "missing/captured."
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d. SGT Bergdahl's enlistment was extended one year as his 1 October 2011
ETS1 date approached and he was, as far as the Army knew, still under the control of
the Taliban. One year later, while he was still under the control of the Taliban, his
enlistment was extended by 10 more years - to 1 October 2022.

e. On 4 August 2010 a Board of Inquiry convened to consider the accused's
status. That board recommended that his status remain "missing-captured." The
board also discussed whether the accused had violated the UCMJ but ultimately
decided to wait until they had an opportunity to interview the accused to reach a
conclusion on this issue.

f. The accused returned to military control on 31 May 2014 and his duty status
was changed to "present for duty."

g. On or about 14 July 2014, after the accused had gone through medical
examination incident to his return to military control and had participated in
debriefings by other Army personnel, he was assigned to his present unit and a Flag2
was initiated.

h. When the accused was about to be assigned to his unit, LTG Percy Wiggins,
Commander of U.S. Army North and 5th Army, received a telephone call from the
Secretary to the Army General Staff. He was told that the accused was being
assigned to his unit and that he was responsible to take care of the accused but that
UCMJ would be retained at a higher level. His SJA, who was present at the
conversation, commented that he thought that meant FORSCOM would exercise
jurisdiction. LTG Wiggins assumed that was true as well. When the accused came to
him the Dahl3 AR 15-6 investigation was still under way. LTG Wiggins did not get
involved in the FLAG process. That was done by his BN Commander. LTG Wiggins
emphasized that his people focus on re-integrating the accused, making sure that he
was safe, and ensuring that he was treated like every other soldier. Though he was
aware of significant media attention regarding the accused, he did not pay much
attention to it and did not really give their reports of desertion much credit.

i. On 14 July 2014, the accused was counseled by his new battalion
commander on the plan to take care of him while the investigation occurred and that
he had been FLAGd pending the investigation.

j. On or about 14 July 2014, the accused was put to work as a human
resources NCO. He was counseled by his NCO chain of command on what was
expected of him and how to conduct himself as an NCO. He has continued to
perform these duties while investigations and UCMJ process have occurred.

1 End Term of Service.

2 Suspension of Favorable Personnel Action (Flag), AR 600-8-2.
Referring to Major General Elahl, the AR-15-6 investigating officer.
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k. On 28 September 2014, MG Dahl completed his investigation and forwarded
it to the Director of the Army Staff.

I. On 22 December 2014, the Director took action and forwarded the report of
investigation to the FORSCOM commander for action, if any, that he deemed
appropriate.

m. On 9 January 2015, the accused was attached to FORSCOM for the
administration of military justice.

n. Charges were preferred against the accused and another Flag put in place
on 25 March 2015 and, after an extensive Article 32 Pretrial Hearing, those charges
were referred to General Court-Martial by the FORSCOM commander on 14 December
2015.

LAW AND ANALYSIS

3. To say that the doctrine of condonation of desertion is an infrequent issue in
courts-martial jurisprudence is a great understatement. There is very little case law
on the matter, and what does exist is ancient. Nevertheless, the principle of
constructive condonation of desertion as a bar to prosecution has been clearly set
out in the Manual for Courts-Martial since at least as far back as 1917. A Manual for

Courts-Martial, Courts of Inquiry and of Other Procedure Under Military Law, Chapter
IX, Para. 151, p. 70 (1917). In current day, Rule for Courts-Martial 907(b)(2)(D)(iii)
provides that: "Constructive condonation of desertion established by unconditional
restoration to duty without trial of a deserter by a general court-martial convening
authority who knew of the desertion," is barred from prosecution.

4. For this bar to prosecution to apply, the accused must be restored to full duty by
the General Court-martial Convening Authority (GCMCA). United States v. Linerode,
11 CMR 262 (CMA 1953). The decision must have been an informed one, that is, the
GCMCA must have known of the desertion. United States v. Scott, 20 CMR 366 (CMA
1956); United States v. Merrow, 32 CMR 739 (CMA 1962). The decision must have
amounted to an unequivocal decision by the GCMCA to essentially pardon the
accused. Merrow, at 743. Finally, the return to duty must be unconditional. Scott, at
370. It is not sufficient if someone other than the GCMCA restores the accused to full

duty, even if the GCMCA knew ofthe restoration. Id. And, the mere assigning a
soldier pending investigation and/or trial with work to do while thus pending is not
alone sufficient to constitute a full and unconditional return to duty. Linerode, at 271.
Every soldier, regardless of his UCMJ status, must be given something useful to do.
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5. In this case, LTG Wiggins was a GCMCA. However, it was clear to LTG Wiggins
from the moment the accused was assigned to him, that he was not the accused's
GCMCA - that is, Wiggins knew that all UCMJ action over the accused was reserved
to a higher level, probably FORSCOM. The case law is not clear that the condoner
has to be the GCMCA with authority over the actual desertion offense. However,
because condonation acts as a constructive pardon, it is only logical that the GCMCA
with authority over the charge being constructively pardoned should be the one
whose actions result in the constructive pardon. One cannot condone that which one
has no authority to condemn.

6. Next, even assuming, for the sake of argument, that LTG Wiggins had the authority
to condemn and condone, he had almost no knowledge of any desertion. By his
testimony under oath all he knew of any desertion was that the media had used such
words in connection with the accused. He properly discounted that information as
unreliable media buzz. What he did know was that MG Dahl was conducting an
investigation to get to the bottom of what actually happened. That investigation had
just begun when the accused was assigned to LTG Wiggins' command. LTG Wiggins
was not the commander in charge of the accused when the events later alleged to
constitute desertion are alleged to have occurred. And, DA had told him to not
concern himself with anything other than the care and feeding ofthe accused. As a
dutiful Army officer, that is exactly what he did. LTG Wiggins did not have the
requisite knowledge ofthe facts ofthe alleged desertion required in order to condone
it.

7. Finally, it was LTC Fabiano, the accused's battalion commander, not a GCMCA,
who restored him to duty by assigning him useful work to do. And, that restoration
was not unconditional because LTC Fabiano initiated a Flag on the same day he took
charge of the accused and gave him work to do. Furthermore, it would strain reason
to suggest that a person in SGT Bergdahl's position in July 2014 should simply be
shunted aside to fend for himself for something to do until all investigations and
appropriate action had been taken -- no matter what that action turned out to be. If
the defense position were to apply, no soldier pending charges for desertion could
ever be given work to do while his case was pending or he would be pardoned. That
is not logical, economical, smart, practical, or in the best interest ofthe accused in
most cases and certainly not in the best interest of SGT Bergdahl in this case. The
accused was returned by his BN Commander not his GCMCA and that return to duty
was not unconditional. Even if news reports of what PAO said are true, no PAO
officer can restore the accused to duty; and even if he or she did, they are not the
GCMCA. Furthermore, there is no evidence any of these people were speaking on
behalf of the GCMCA for purposes of condonation of desertion. A statement by a
public affairs officer that "He is just another soldier in the U.S. Army" does not mean
that the GCMCA has condoned his desertion.
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8. The defense argument that because the two Flags were imposed by someone
other than the GCMCA and because they were improper FLAGS they have no impact
on the issue of condonation of desertion is not well made. It is true that the Flags
were not imposed by the GCMCA. However, it is also true that the GCMCA did not
return the accused to duty. That action was done by the officer who initiated the July
2014 Flag. It would make no sense for the GCMCA who had not been the person to
place duties on the accused to be the person who initiated the Flag. The defense
argument that the Flag did not serve as a condition on the accused's duties, ignores
the purpose of a Flag. Under this Flag the accused could not be promoted, he could
not PCS, he could not ETS, he could not reenlist, he could not be administratively
discharged, he could not receive an award for his performance or good conduct, he
could not attend military schools, he could not take advance or excess leave, and he
could not receive a reenlistment bonus --just to name a few. If those are not
conditions on his duty, then there could be none. The defense contends that the
return to duty by the BN Commander should be imputed to the GCMCA but in the
same document contends that the conditions placed on that duty should not also be
imputed. They are trying to have it both ways. The bottom line, however, is that the
accused was not unconditionally returned to duty. He was being investigated for
some serious allegations and he and everyone else knew that he was not free to go
and needed something to do until everything was resolved. That is what happened.
No one, especially not any GCMCA condoned any desertion with which the accused
is now charged.

RULING

9. The defense motion to dismiss Charge I for condonation of desertion is DENIED.

^/r- /A*
JEFFERY R. NANCE
COL, JA
Military Judge
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